
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - MONDAY, 10TH JULY, 2017 AT 9.30 AM

Venue - ANGLIA ROOM, THE CONFERENCE 
SUITE, ELIZABETH HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Cabinet requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Thursday, 29 June 2017

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
10 July 2017

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 11

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 May 2017.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN AND THE STRATEGIC HOUSING MARKET 
ASSESSMENT DOCUMENT 

12 - 25

Report of Executive Member Growth, Gordon Bambridge.

Due to the size of these documents, the appendices to the attached reports 
can be viewed at Item 9 of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission Agenda, 
via this link:

http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=4
083&Ver=4

8. GRANT FUNDING 26 - 55

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.

9. PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) - THETFORD 56 - 79

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.

10. UNSIGHTLY AND DERELICT SITES AND LAND 80 - 89

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.

http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=4083&Ver=4
http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=4083&Ver=4


Cabinet
10 July 2017

11. LOCALLY ADMINISTERED BUSINESS RATES RELIEF SCHEME 90 - 96

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen. 

12. MARKET TOWN INITIATIVE - GRANT RE-ALLOCATION 97 - 102

Report of Executive Member Place, Paul Claussen.

13. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet on Tuesday 5 
September at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham.

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 30 May 2017 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr D M Crawford

Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr K. Martin

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Housing Manager
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 

(BDC)
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Matthew Hogan - Strategic Housing Manager (Shared)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer BDC)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By

54/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2017 were confirmed and signed 
by the Chairman. 

55/17 APOLOGIES 

None.

56/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

57/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
30 May 2017

2

58/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, M Chapman-Allen, Crawford, Hollis, Martin and Matthews 
were in attendance.

59/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.
60/17 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Caston Village Hall  

The Executive Member for Place presented the report.  

It was highlighted in the report there could be uncertainty about the cost 
involved and was asked that a condition be added that any proposed 
works, preparation and building survey be completed before the grant was 
released. 

Options
1) Fully fund the application as set out in the report
2) Partly fund the application as set out in the report
3) Do nothing

Reasons
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

RESOLVED that Cabinet approves £20,000 (or 24.4% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to Caston Village Hall to replace outdated 
kitchen and toilet areas and provide a new entrance porch.

61/17 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The Deputy Leader was in attendance at the previous meeting and provided 
a brief update for Members.  

The Chairman announced that since Councillor Dimoglou’s resignation from 
Cabinet, he formally appointed Councillor Paul Claussen onto the Anglia 
Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee.

The minutes of the meeting of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership 
Joint Committee held on 28 March 2017 were noted.

62/17 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2016-17 OUT-TURN 

The Executive Member for Finance presented the report.  He highlighted that 
due to the success of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Enforcement service, 
an additional sum of £174,575 was received as income.
The waste collection had also seen a large underspend due to the 
contamination costs being lower than expected.  

The Executive Member was keen to see a minimal underspend going forward 
and there would be a refocus on the re-allocation of money.

Action By

6



Cabinet
30 May 2017

3

There were some financial risks the Council were facing with regard to 
Footway lighting where costs may not be able to be fully recovered due to 
council tax capping.

The Executive Member explained the Capital programme reflected a variance 
which Members were being asked to reallocate the funds.

Councillor Borrett suggested the Towns should undertake the responsibility of 
the footway lighting as they were not subject to the capping rules.

Councillor Crawford said it was very good report but stressed there were still 
units at Riverside that were not occupied. It was confirmed that discussions 
were taking place with prospective tenants about the remaining units being 
let.

Councillor Crawford also expressed his concern on the current staff vacancy 
rate within Breckland.  The Chief Executive said she was aware of some 
pressure points with regard to filling the vacancies and the Executive 
Manager for Strategy and Governance, and the Deputy Leader would be 
monitoring this.

Councillor M Chapman-Allen asked why there had been an underspend with 
the disabled facilities grant and if this had been as a result of not being able 
to get physio therapists.  The Housing Manager said there were a number of 
committed spends but had not been invoiced as yet, and was confident that 
the majority of the grant would be allocated.  An appointment had been made 
within the team to carry out low level assessment on basic adaptations.

Councillor Bambridge agreed with the comments Councillor Borrett had made 
regarding the footway lighting.

Options
1) That the report and appendix be noted and recommend to Full Council 

that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,965,394 be 
carried forward into 2017-18 to support projects in progress.

2) That the report and appendix be noted and not recommend to Full 
Council that capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of 
£1,965,394 be carried forward into 2017-18 to support projects in 
progress.

Reasons
To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of 
the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial 
year.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) That the report and appendix be noted
2) Recommend to FULL COUNCIL that capital budgets (& associated 

funding sources) of £1,965,394 be carried forward into 2017-18 to 
support projects in progress.

Action By

7



Cabinet
30 May 2017

4

63/17 QUARTER 4 2016-17 PERFORMANCE REPORT OVERVIEW 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation, presented the report informing Members that there had been 
a change of layout following feedback from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission.

Quarter 4’s performance had been assessed as ‘fair’ with 4 indicators marked 
as ‘red’.  One related to residual waste, and due to a national drive in 
reducing contaminated waste resulted in a change to figures which had been 
mirrored across other local authorities. The short term investment and return 
on cash investments were both reported as red due to the actual income 
being reported slightly higher than expected.  There had been 11 leavers 
within the authority during Quarter 4, which included vacancies from the ARP.  
There were currently 5 vacant posts across the Authority to date.

Councillor Cowen complimented the new format and said to see the trend 
was extremely useful.

The content of the report was noted.

64/17 YAXHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - MAKING (ADOPTION) OF THE 
YAXHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the report, and explained that it 
was for Breckland to make any amendments to the Plan and not for the 
Parish to do so. The report before members contained a version of the plan in 
which some relatively minor changes had been made. However, as this now 
differed from the version that the public had voted upon at the referendum, he 
felt it would be better to revert to the referendum version.

Councillors Claussen and Webb agreed that the plan to be adopted should 
be the version that had been the subject of the referendum.

The Executive Manager for Governance agreed that this was the safest 
option. Any change to the document post referendum brought some risk of 
challenge and the more substantive the change the greater the risk.

The Chairman was in favour of using the original plan that the parish had 
been consulted upon, as a large proportion of the parish had liked this.  It was 
therefore recommended that a slight amendment to recommendation one 
was added to reflect ‘as per the referendum version’.

A member of the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan working group said 53% of 
the village were in favour of the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan.  He had made 
queries with regard to the minor amendments and whilst they would prefer to 
see the minor amendments, understood the logic of reverting to the 
referendum version. 

Options 
1) Cabinet to recommend to Full Council to “make” the Yaxham 

Neighbourhood Plan as “made” as part of the statutory development 
plan for Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 
38A of the Town and Country Planning Act as “…more than half of 
those voting to have voted in favour of the plan…”, and to undertake 

Action By

8



Cabinet
30 May 2017

5

the required publication, advise the Parish Council and other 
prescribed persons and subsequently update the district policies map.

2) Cabinet to recommend to Full Council to refuse to make the Yaxham 
Neighbourhood Plan where “…it considers that the Plan would 
breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with any EU obligation or 
any of the Convention Rights (within the meaning of the Human 
Rights Act 1998).

Reasons
It is recommended that Members endorse Option 1 as there was a positive 
vote in favour for making the Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan through a 
referendum and there is considered to be compliance with, rather than being 
incompatible, with the European obligations and Human Rights conventions.

It was RESOLVED that Cabinet recommend to Full Council:

1) To confirm that Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan, as written at the time of 
and consulted upon during the referendum, is “made” as part of the 
statutory development plan for Breckland Council, as required by 
paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town and Country Planning 
Act.

2) To publish the decision as required by paragraph (9) of section 38A of 
the Town and Country Planning Act.

3) To advise Yaxham Parish Council and any other prescribed persons 
about this, to meet the requirements of paragraph (10) of section 38A 
of the Town and Country Planning Act.

4) To amend the Breckland District policies map, to meet the 
requirements of paragraph (9) of the Town and Country (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

65/17 HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2017-21 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the report.

Councillor Crawford felt the emphasis had been taken off social housing and 
asked who would be responsible for the residents who were on low income 
and low cost rented housing.  The Strategic Housing Manager said that the 
authority’s focus was to ensure that a broad range of housing tenures would 
be provided locally, and that officers are working with local housing 
associations to increase the type of housing they supply.  
Councillor Crawford asked how Breckland would supply the housing if the 
emphasis had moved to the right to buy and was concerned about those that 
could not afford their own home.

The Executive Member felt the answer to this was encompassed under 
Priority One: Preventing Homelessness.

Councillor Robinson was pleased to see strong partnership working across 
local authorities providing support to victims of domestic abuse.  Although he 
felt that moving the victims to a safe haven sometimes removed support 
systems that were available for the individual such as allowing children to 
continue their education.  

Councillor Claussen said it was a good report but queried the preventing 

Action By

9



Cabinet
30 May 2017

6

Homelessness indicator in the Performance Report as in the past he had 
seen data that provided information on the amount of spend on Bed and 
Breakfast.  The Executive Manager for Place said that data was still available 
and would feed this into the performance report in future. 

Councillor Webb asked how often the Gypsy and Traveller assessment needs 
was carried out.  It was confirmed this was completed every 2 years.

Councillor Martin informed Members that there was a building in Attleborough 
which had been boarded up and was a disgrace, but would provide additional 
housing needs if required.  The Strategic Housing Manager said he was 
working with the owner of the building to determine the best level of housing 
to use.

The Chairman asked for more information to be added under the fourth bullet 
point in Priority Three: Supporting Housing Growth to allow investigation of 
initiatives. He also asked how the Housing Strategy linked with the Planning 
Policy, especially as it is mentioned there was a commitment to support 
initiatives that promoted growth of custom and self-build housing across the 
district.  He felt there could be a challenge if the policies were not aligned.

The Executive Member for Growth had made a note of the items and both 
were being actively considered.

The Chairman was concerned that it was a strategy document and 
considered if the item should be deferred until the amendments had taken 
place.

The Chief Executive said she was in discussions with the new Director of 
Capita on the planning policy and the plans for growth strategy.  It was 
suggested that the fourth bullet point be amended to add ‘new initiatives such 
as a housing ladder’ be added which would allow the framework to carry out 
investigations.  The Chairman was happy with this approach.

Options
1) Do Nothing (not recommended).  Under this option, the document will 

not be adopted by the authority.

2) That Cabinet considers the Breckland Housing and Homelessness 
Strategy 2017-21 for adoption (recommended option).  Under this 
option, the strategy will be adopted by the authority.

Reasons
To enable the Breckland Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2017-21 to be 
adopted by the authority.

It was RESOLVED that Cabinet adopts the Breckland Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy for 2017-21.

66/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting held on 11 July 2017 in the Norfolk 
Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham were noted.

Action By

10



Cabinet
30 May 2017

7

67/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act.

68/17 GROWTH & COMMERCIALISATION DELIVERY UNIT 

Members were asked to increase the delivery capacity at both Councils with 
regards to key strategic programmes of activity.

It was RESOLVED that:  
1) Cabinet recommends to FULL COUNCIL approval of the 

establishment of a new delivery unit the proposed structure in respect 
of which is set out at section 1.5 of the report and Appendix B.

2) That Members approved the use of the Growth Reserve to support the 
cost of this unit initially, with the unit moving to self-financing as part of 
the Medium Term Financial Plan.

The meeting closed at 11.10 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

11



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 6th July
Cabinet – 10th July
Full Council – 27th July

Author: Sarah Robertson, Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita)

Subject: Breckland Local Plan Pre-Submission Publication Document

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to seek Members’ agreement to publish the 
Local Plan Regulation 19 document, and then submit to the Secretary of 
State for an independent examination

Recommendation(s): 

1) that Members endorse the Regulation 19 Pre-Submission Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal 
and Habitats Regulations Assessment for a six week publication period;

2) to agree that, following statutory public consultation, delegate powers to the Strategic 
Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader and Executive Member for Growth to 
submit the Local Plan, subject to any minor modifications for examination provided that no 
substantive objections have been submitted;

3) to delegate to the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader and Executive 
Member for Growth to make minor modifications and amendments to the draft Local Plan 
prior to commencement of the Statutory Public Consultation;

4) to delegate to the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader and Executive 
Member for Growth to agree amendments to the Local Plan arising during the Examination in 
Public.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Members will be aware that Cabinet agreed the formation of a single Local Plan for 
Breckland at a meeting on the 8th January 2013. When adopted the Local Plan will set the 
strategic vision and framework for planning decisions within Breckland. Furthermore it will 
also allocate land to achieve these objectives. The Local Plan when adopted will cover the 
plan period 2011-2036.

1.2 Significant work has gone into the preparation of the new Local Plan for Breckland, which 
has led to the production of the document attached at Appendix A of this report. The Local 
Plan presented within this report has been shaped by both meetings of this council, and by 
public consultation. The preparation of this document has included 29 meetings of the 
Council’s Local Plan Working Group (LPWG), which have has included meetings held at 
venues across the District. Three regulation 18 consultations has occurred during the 
preparation of the document, which have generated over 5,000 comments on the plan from 
both members of the public and statutory consultees. These comments alongside a further 
32 public events and numerous parish council meetings have all informed the preparation 
of the plan. In addition to the above 680 sites have been submitted to the Council for 
consideration for inclusion within the Local Plan for residential, employment and retail uses.

12

Agenda Item 7



1.3 The Local Plan included within Appendix A of this report, represents the Regulation 19 
version of the plan as set out within the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012.

Local Plan

1.4 As noted above the Local Plan has been subject to significant consultation during its 
preparation. This report does not seek to go into significant detail on all aspects of the plan, 
as has been discussed at the meetings of the LPWG; instead this section of the report 
seeks to highlight key changes since the last Regulation 18 consultation.

1.5 Revised Document Structure – Earlier Regulation 18 consultations included separate 
documents for policies and site allocations. This Regulation 19 publication plan brings 
together both elements to provide a single comprehensive development plan. Revisions 
made to the structure of the document include bringing together comprehensive sections on 
Housing, the Environment, Economy and Communities. Site allocations are included within 
the relevant sections of the document

1.6 Objectively Assessed Housing Need - The Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (CNSHMA) forms the key evidence base for the housing target within the 
Local Plan. The CNSHMA has recently been updated by the five Central Norfolk authorities 
to reflect the updated population projections which have been release by Government. The 
updated CNSHMA has revised the objectively assessed need (OAN) for Breckland over the 
plan period 2011-2036. The previous CNSHMA set the OAN as 598 dwellings per annum 
equating to 14,925. The updated CNSHMA sets the new OAN as 612 dwellings per annum 
or 15,298 new homes over the plan period. The revised housing target reflects household 
formation rates in Breckland which have been high over the period 2011-2016. 

1.7 The Local Plan plans to meet the whole OAN for the District through commitments, 
completions, new housing allocations and sites which have the decision to grant subject to 
s106. The total provision is 648 above OAN however this only provides a small buffer 
against which the Inspector with assess delivery. 

1.8 Housing Trajectory – It has been necessary to revise the housing trajectory within the 
Local Plan, to reflect the updated CNSHMA. The housing trajectory includes a stepped 
approach to the housing requirement, whereby there is a lower housing requirement for the 
first five years of the plan, before increasing at the end of the plan. A stepped housing 
trajectory is considered to be appropriate within Breckland. The locational strategy includes 
the two Sustainable Urban Extensions (SUE’s), one within Thetford which has the benefit of 
planning permission and the other within Attleborough. Paragraph 52 of the NPPF notes 
that:

‘The supply of new homes can sometimes be best achieved through planning for larger 
scale development, such as new settlements or extensions to existing villages and towns.’ 

1.9 The delivery periods for the two SUE’s (as set out within the Infrastructure Delivery Plan) 
are shown to extend beyond the end of the plan period. This reflects likely build out rates 
within the sites. There are also significant infrastructure and land assembly requirements 
associated with the development of the SUE’s, which means that their delivery is not 
anticipated to start until further into the plan period. A stepped housing trajectory allows for 
the slower initial delivery rates of the SUE’s to be taken into account at the beginning of the 
plan period (following adoption) and increase as the SUE’s begin to deliver.

1.10 In order to meet the housing target (and therefore meet the five year housing land supply) 
within the early years of the plan, it will be necessary to ensure the small and medium sites 

13



within the market towns and local service centres come forward early in the plan.

1.11 Design – At the Cabinet meeting on 25th April, members considered further work on Design 
needed to be incorporated within the Local Plan. This was reported back to the most recent 
LPWG,  the key changes being:

 Inclusion of a new design policy within the Plan GEN02 Promoting High Quality 
Design. This has been included as a strategic policy at the start of the plan 
emphasising the importance of high quality design in all development within 
Breckland.

 Policy GEN 02 commits the Council to preparing a supplementary planning 
document on design following the adoption of the Local Plan.

 The development management design policy has been updated, building on 
comments made by the development management team. It now includes additional 
requirements in relation to highway safety, parking and refuse, recycling and 
servicing facilities.

Sustainability Appraisal

1.12 Alongside the Local Plan document, the authority has to prepare a Sustainability Appraisal 
Report.  This Report sets out a thorough baseline of Breckland data and evidence which 
demonstrates what is important and/or unique in Breckland in terms of the economy, 
society and the environment.  The Report also considers the implications of other plans, 
policies and programmes and where there are land use dimensions which the Local Plan 
can help deliver.  This baseline has informed 19 sustainability objectives against which all 
reasonable options have been assessed and from which preferred options have been 
identified.  The Sustainability Appraisal Report will be a key consideration when the 
document is examined and provides scope to a Government Inspector to look at the 
potential outcomes of alternative site and settlement boundary options where there are 
representations that the Council should have taken forward another option.  Importantly, the 
Report also incorporates the legal requirement for a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA), which is an obligatory appraisal of the environmental effects of the plan and the 
need to justify those policy options that have a negative effect on the environment.

1.13 The proposed Submission document is accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal Report 
(SAR). The SAR considers the social, economic and environmental impacts of the Local 
Plan and provides an essential tool in ensuring the policies and allocations represent the 
most sustainable option. The SAR confirms that the approach taken in the Local Plan is the 
most sustainable.

1.14 The SAR will be presented as part of the proposed Submission publication; however 
Members are advised that due to the size of the document (>700 pages) it will only be 
made available electronically with a master hard copy available at the Council Offices. 

Habitats Regulation Assessment

1.15 Regulation 85B of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 requires 
plan making authorities to determine whether a plan is likely to have a significant effect 
upon any European site as defined by the Regulations. In considering the implications of 
the Local Plan document for European sites, an Appropriate Assessment has been 
undertaken in order to comply with the Habitats Regulations 2010.

Policies Maps

14



1.16 As part of the Local Plan it is necessary to revise the policies maps. Policies maps are an 
obligatory part of the adopted development plan comprising the area base map depicting 
allocated sites for a particular land use and development proposals and sets out the area(s) 
to which specific policies apply.

1.17 A full set of policies maps will be published alongside the Local Plan during the pre-
submission period and then submitted to the Secretary of State.

           Local Development Scheme (LDS)

1.18 Local Authorities are required to prepare a Local Development Scheme (LDS) through 
section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011). The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act sets out the requirements 
for the LDS that they must specify:

 The documents which are to be local development documents
 The subject matter and geographical area to which each document relates
 The timetable for the preparation and revision of the documents

1.19 The proposed LDS can be seen at appendix C of this document. Members will be aware 
that this is not the first LDS which has been published by the Council. This is the seventh 
revision to the LDS since they were introduced in 2004. Local Authorities are required to 
monitor the progress of preparation of the Local Plan. The existing LDS was agreed at the 
Local Plan Working Group held 3rd February 2017 and is accurate with regard to the 
remaining stages of production for the Local Plan. However, due to the decision to delay 
the timescale for the Local Plan by six weeks at the Cabinet meeting held 25th April 2017, 
the timeline for each stage is no longer accurate. The decision to delay the Local Plan was 
taken to ensure that design featured more prominently in the Local Plan. Members have 
additionally made a commitment to producing a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
on design, and therefore the LDS includes a paragraph to formalise that commitment. In 
summary, the LDS has been revised to reflect the current preparation timetable of the Local 
Plan, reference the SPD on Design, to ensure that the Local Plan is legally compliant.

Proposed Local Plan Timetable

1.20 The future milestones for the Local Plan, as set out within the LDS, are as follows:

 Pre-submission Publication (regulation 19): w/c August 21st – October 2017
 Submission to the Planning Inspectorate: October 2017
 Examination in Public: January 2018
 Adoption: April 2018

1.21 Following the submission of the document to the Planning Inspectorate, the timetable for 
the examination will be dependent on them. Performance on the deliver of local 
development documents against the LDS will be kept under review through the Annual 
Monitoring Report. 

Duty to Co-Operate

1.22 The Localism Act (2011) introduced the 'Duty to Co-operate' which is a legal requirement 
that applies to all Local Planning Authorities, County Councils, National Park Authorities 
and a number of public bodies including the Environment Agency, Highways England, 
Historic England, Natural England and the Equality and Human Rights Commission.

15



1.23 Local Planning Authorities are expected to demonstrate evidence of having effectively co-
operated with key partners on cross-boundary strategic policy impacts when their local 
plans are submitted for examination. It is important that co-operation is a continuous 
process of engagement. This requirement has become more important than previously 
when strategic cross-boundary issues were considered through the now revoked Regional 
Plan process, with this responsibility now resting at the local level.

1.24 A Duty to Co-operate Statement has been prepared and circulated to all duty to co-operate 
bodies. This will be submitted to the Secretary of State as part of the Local Plan 
examination supporting documentation.

Supporting Evidence

1.25 Members will be aware that significant supporting evidence is required to accompany the 
Local Plan and provide robust justification for policies in order to ensure a successful 
Examination and the Local Plan being found ‘sound’. The evidence base around, housing, 
employment and retail, the environment and infrastructure will all be submitted to the 
Secretary of State alongside the Local Plan. In addition to this, the Planning Policy Team is 
also preparing a number of topic papers which seek to explain the process behind key local 
issues. These will also form part of the evidence base, and include:

 Local Service Centre Topic Paper
 Housing Topic Paper
 Site Selection Topic Paper
 Optional Technical Standards (Housing) Topic Paper

1.26 Furthermore, supplementary work on Employment Land is also currently being completed 
and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan is intended to be a live document which will be updated 
as new information is available. 

Publication of the Local Plan

1.27 This report seeks Members’ agreement to publish. The publication period does not 
represent a wide ranging consultation on the Local Plan. Instead, the publication of the 
Regulation 19 version of the Local Plan seeks views on whether the plan is sound. 
Paragraph 182 of the NPPF sets out the tests of soundness, which are that the plan is:

 Positively prepared – the plan should be prepared based on a strategy which 
seeks to meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure requirements, 
including unmet requirements from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable 
to do so and consistent with achieving sustainable development

 Justified – the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when considered 
against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence

 Effective – the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on effective 
joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities

 Consistent with national policy – the plan should enable the delivery of 
sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the Framework

1.28 It is therefore important to distinguish that this is not a widespread public consultation but 
should be seen as a “final check” with those bodies which have a role in delivering the 

16



Local Plan, including Town and Parish Councils.

1.29 The Local Planning regulations require that the following documents are made available 
during the six week period:

 Local Plan Pre-Submission Document
 Sustainability Appraisal Report
 Habitats Regulation Assessment
 Policies Maps
 A statement setting out:

o Who was invited to be involved in the plan preparation
o How they were invited to be involved in the plan preparation
o A summary of the main issues and how they have been addressed.

 Any other supporting documents relevant to the preparation of the Development 
Document

1.30 The publication of the Local Plan will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted Statement of Community Involvement. The publication period will be carried out as 
requires the authority to:

 Notify all general and specific consultees of the publication period (including Town 
and Parish Councils)

 Notify all people who have requested to be included on the Council’s consultation 
database

 Place an advert within the Eastern Daily Press advertising the publication.

Submission and Examination of the Local Plan

1.31 Following the 6 week publication period, the authority is required to produce a summary of 
the main issues raised by the representations. Any very significant issues raised by 
representations that go to the heart of the soundness of the plan should come to light 
during this summation process (Regulation 22).

1.32 The nature of representations received will determine the course of action that the Council 
takes and this is reflected in the recommendation of this report.  If there are no 
representations which cause the authority to question whether the plan is sound then the 
document can be submitted to Secretary of State and subjected to examination.  However, 
should the Council receive representations that may warrant a modification to the document 
then there are two courses of action.  Under the Regulations, the authority can make small 
focussed changes which would need to be re-appraised and consulted on before being 
submitted.  Should the publication period draw fundamental comments which the Council 
considers are valid and that they go to the heart of the soundness then extensive changes 
may be required which would likely necessitate undertaking further evidence gathering and 
consultation.

Conclusions

1.33 The Local Plan has been subject to significant levels of consultation through-out its 
preparation. The plan presented within Appendix A is considered to represent a justified 
and effective plan which will help the District meet its own objectively assessed needs. 

17



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option A: Members agree that the Council publishes the Local Plan document in 
accordance with Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. Members further agree to submit the Local Plan to the 
Secretary of State for an Examination in Public by a Government appointed Inspector. 
Where minor modifications are needed prior to the submission of the Local Plan and/or any 
amendments to the Local Plan arising during the Examination in Public, Members agree 
that these be delegated to the Strategic Planning Manager in consultation with the Leader 
and Executive Member for Growth.
 

2.2 Option B: Members do not agree that the Council publishes the Local Plan document, nor 
agree to submit the Local Plan document to the Secretary of State for an Examination in 
Public by a Government appointed Inspector. 

2.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Members are asked to approve Option A in order to allow the timely progression of a sound 
Local Plan development framework for the District.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefits associated with Option A are that it will allow for the Council to 
progress with the adoption of a Local Plan to setting the strategic planning priorities for the 
District. Furthermore, the Local Plan also will set the housing trajectory for the District and 
thereby help to maintain a five year housing land supply.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) considers the environmental implications 
of the proposals within the Local plan. The SEA is incorporated into the Sustainability 
Appraisal. Furthermore there is also a specific section and policies within the plan relating 
to the environment.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The legal framework and requirement for the production of a Local Plan is set out within the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations (2012),the National Planning Policy Framework and 
National planning Practice Guidance

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1  It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Local Plan aligns with corporate priority: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; 
providing the right services at the right time and in the right way; developing the local 
economy to be vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, more independent 
communities. The production also aligns with the priority of enabling effective planning and 
delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs.

18



5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 The reduction and prevention of crime is included within the sustainability appraisal as one 
of the objectives. All of the policies within the plan have been assessed against the 
objective. Further to this Policy COM01 Design, requires all new development within 
Breckland should be designed to reduce opportunities for crime and antisocial behaviour, 
creating safe, secure and accessible environments.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There will be financial implications on the Local Authority for the examination of the Local 
Plan. This will include the cost of holding the public examination presided over by an 
independent Planning Inspector from  the Planning Inspectorate.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 The publication of the Local Plan will be for a six week period. Stakeholders and members 
of the public will be able to comment on the soundness of the plan during this period. The 
soundness comments will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for the Inspector 
appointed to consider the Local Plan to take into account. The timetable for the 
Examination in Public of the Local Plan will be dependant upon the Planning Inspectorate.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The Local Plan affects all wards in Breckland 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CNSHMA: Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment
7.2 LPWG: Local Plan Working Group
7.3 NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework
7.4 OAN: Objectively Assessed Need
7.5 SAR: Sustainability Appraisal Report
7.6 SEA: Strategic Environmental Assessment

19



Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alex Chrusciak, Director of Planning & Building Control
Telephone Number: 01362 656 805
Email: Alex.chrusiack@capita.co.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A
Appendix B 

Local Plan Pre-Submission Publication Document
Sustainability Appraisal Report

Appendix C Local Development Scheme
Appendix D Duty to Co-operate Statement
Appendix E Habitats Regulation Assessment
Appendix F Consultation Statement
Appendix G Consultation Statement Appendices
Appendix H Local Plan Policies Maps

20



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge – Executive Member for Growth

To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 6th July 2017

Author: Sarah Robertson, Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita)

Subject: Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to update Members on the findings of the 
Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members consider the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment and 
publish as part of the evidence base to inform the Local Plan.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment (CNSHMA) forms the key 
element of housing evidence, which is required to support the Local Plan. The CNSHMA is 
attached at Appendix A of this report. The CNSHMA discussed within this report represents 
a full update to the Part 1 of the CNSHMA presented to Cabinet in November 2015. The 
2017 CNSHMA was again prepared by Opinion Research Services (ORS) and was jointly 
commissioned by all of the Central Norfolk partner authorities.

1.2 The study has been prepared based on the same methodology as the previous iteration, 
updating inputs to the study where new evidence is available and reflecting any changes in 
case-law and Planning Inspectors decisions as necessary. 

Scope of CNSHMA

1.3 The NPPF at paragraph 159 requires Local Planning Authorities to ‘prepare a Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment to assess their full housing needs, working with neighbouring 
authorities where housing market areas cross administrative boundaries.’

1.4 A housing market area is defined within the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
as a ‘geographical area defined by household demand and preferences for all types of 
housing, reflecting the key functional linkages between places where people live and work.’ 
(NPPG Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 2a-010-20140306)  Members will be aware from the 
previous SHMA, that Breckland’s housing market area, does not follow the Authorities 
boundary. Instead evidence showed that large parts of the District were indelibly linked with 
Norwich in the way in which people lived and worked. As such it has been necessary to 
work with a wider range of Norfolk authorities to review the housing needs for the area. As 
such the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment covers the five authorities 
of Breckland, North Norfolk, Broadland, South Norfolk, Norwich City and the Broads 
Authority. 

1.5 Whilst not all of Breckland has the closest association in terms of its travel to work patterns 
or operation of its housing market with Norwich than any other location, the Housing Market 
Area (HMA) represents a best fit, ensuring, as required by government methodology, that 

21



no areas fall outside of a HMA. In this regard it is important to note that the findings of the 
CNSHMA refer to the whole of Breckland district.

1.6 As noted above the key outcome of a SHMA as defined by the NPPG is to ‘identify the 
future quantity of housing needed, including a breakdown by type, tenure and size’. (NPPG 
Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 2a-002-20140306). 

Key Outcomes of the CNSHMA

1.7 The key output from the SHMA is the identification of an Objectively Assessed housing 
Need (OAN) which the Council needs to plan for. This local target replaces previous targets 
in Regional Plans that are now revoked. Whilst there is not a single source of information 
which defines OAN, the NPPG sets out the starting point for the calculation of OAN, stating 
‘household projections published by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government should provide the starting point estimate of overall housing need.’ (NPPG 
Paragraph: 015 Reference ID: 2a-015-20140306). Household projections are produced by 
applying projected household representative rates to the population projections which are 
published by the Office for National Statistics.

1.8 Since the last CNSHMA was produced there has been a revised set of household 
projections released by DCLG. The most recent projections are referred to as the 2014 
household projections and cover the period 2015-2036. Across Central Norfolk over this 
period the 2014 projections show that household numbers will grow by 2,462 dwellings per 
annum. Alongside the 2014 household projections, the CNSHMA has also had regard to:

 Migration adjustments, based on 10 year 2005-2015 longer-term migration trends;
 Market signals, including an uplift for concealed families
 Converting from household growth to a requirement for dwellings, taking account of 

vacancies and second homes.
 Employment trends and the relationship between jobs forecast and projected 

numbers of workers – i.e. are there sufficient workers to meet our employment 
targets?

1.9 The outcome in relation to OAN for Breckland is set out within section 5 Housing 
Requirements specifically paragraphs 5.3 to 5.4, of the CNSHMA. The study shows that the 
Full OAN for Breckland for the Local Plan Period of 2011-2036 is 15,298 dwellings. Over 
the course of the plan period this equates to 612 dwellings needing to be delivered per 
annum.

1.10 The CNSHMA identifies a substantial need for additional affordable housing across Central 
Norfolk. This is accounted for within the overall OAN, however the study does note that it 
will be important to maximise the amount of affordable housing that can be delivered 
through market housing led developments. A breakdown of housing mix for both affordable 
and market dwellings are included within chapter 4 of the CNSHMA, specifically within 
figure 83. This shows that for market housing the greatest requirements are for 3 bedroom 
houses, whilst for affordable houses the requirements are predominantly for smaller 2 and 
3 bedroom properties.

1.11 Based on an analysis of findings of the English Housing Survey (EHS) 2015-16, the 
CNSHMA concludes that 35% of gross income is a reasonable upper limit at which 
households on lower incomes could afford rent without falling into housing need. Across 
Central Norfolk as a whole, the majority of households in need of affordable housing would 
require rented properties of the appropriate size. Based on the EHS based assumption in 
Breckland 70% of households in need would require rented housing.

22



Implications for the Local Plan

1.12 The findings of the updated CNSHMA have shown an increase in the OAN for Breckland 
from the 2015 document. The latest SHMA uses the most up to date population projections 
to forecast OAN, and therefore should be included within the Local Plan to derive the 
housing requirement.

1.13 The marginally higher housing requirement for Breckland does not have a negative 
implication on the Local Plan preparation. In the current 5 year period of the Local Plan only 
a further 70 dwellings would need to be confirmed above that from the previous SHMA. 
Higher levels of committed development in recent years mean that the housing trajectory 
which is required to be prepared alongside the Local Plan shows that no new sites would 
be required. The Local Plan, plans to meet the whole OAN for the District through 
commitments, completions, new housing allocations and sites which have the decision to 
grant subject to s106. The total provision is 648 above OAN however this only provides a 
small buffer against which the Inspector will assess delivery. As part of the Duty to Co-
Operate, the other Central Norfolk authorities have also confirmed that they are able to 
meet their own OAN in full or have existing mechanisms in place to consider how these are 
best delivered.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option A: Members consider the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment and 
publish it for use as evidence base to inform the Local Plan.

2.2 Option B: Members consider the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment and 
do not publish it for use as evidence base to inform the Local Plan.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that Members endorse Option A as set out above. The study uses the 
most up to date evidence as required by the National Planning Practice Guidance. If 
Members do not endorse the evidence base, there may be wider implications in relation to 
the Duty to Co-Operate. This would result in a delay to the Council's Local Plan process 
whilst amendments to the document were considered and could affect the soundness of the 
plan if evidence differed between the authorities in the same housing market area. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 This study forms a key part of the evidence base for the Local Plan. It also helps to 
demonstrate the Duty to Co-Operate was required by the Localism Act 2011.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

23



5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The CNSHMA forms a key element of the evidence base for the Local Plan. The Local Plan 
aligns with corporate priority: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; providing the 
right services at the right time and in the right way; developing the local economy to be 
vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, more independent communities. The 
production also aligns with the priority of enabling effective planning and delivery of housing 
solutions to meet local needs.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications)

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.)

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 Central Government have set out within the Housing White paper the intention to introduce 
a standardised approach to assessing housing requirements. The timescale for this has not 
currently been set out, however it may have implications on the OAN for Breckland.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 The CNSHMA forms a key part of the evidence base for the Local Plan. The findings in 
relation to District wide OAN will be part of the six week Regulation 19 Local Plan publication.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards in Breckland are covered by the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market 

24



Assessment

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CNSHMA: Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment
7.2 DCLG: Department for Communities and Local Government
7.3 NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework
7.4 NPPG: National Planning Practice Guidance
7.5 OAN: Objectively Assessed Need
7.6 ORS: Opinion Research Services (Consultants)

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alex Chrusiack, Director of Planning and Building Control 

(Capita)
Telephone Number: 01362 656 805
Email: Alex.chrusiack@capita.co.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2017)

25

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Paul Claussen, Executive Member of Place and Rob Walker, Executive 
Director of Place

To: Cabinet, 10 July 2017 

Author: Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

Subject: Grant Funding

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to consider the long term future of Breckland 
Council’s match funding programme and seek agreement for the establishment of 
a local authority lottery for Breckland, which would support the local voluntary and 
community sector.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet recommend to Council that a match funding reserve of £300,000 is 
maintained for grant giving in 2017/18 and 2018/19 (£150,000 per annum) and that the 
remaining balance from this reserve is deallocated;   

2) That a Breckland Lottery is introduced and that subject to due diligence and procurement an 
External Lottery Management company is engaged;

3) That the Executive Director of Place and the Place Manager are nominated to be the 
Personal Licence holders for the Breckland Lottery;  

4) That delegated authority is given to the Executive Director of Place, in consultation with the 
Executive Member of Place, to agree the criteria for the inclusion of ‘good causes’ that would 
benefit from lottery funding.

1. BACKGROUND

Match Funding

1.1 Breckland Council has for a number of years run a highly successful match funding scheme 
that has distributed grants to local voluntary and community organisations.  Each year, 
£200,000 is allocated from reserves to fund a variety of good causes across the district and 
to lever in much-valued external third party funding.  

1.2 For the last 18 months, the match funding scheme has been administered on behalf of the 
Council by the Norfolk Community Foundation and this has coincided in an upturn in the 
number of applications received and supported.  

1.3 The Council has been fortunate that through sound financial management it has been able 
to continue to operate such a successful and large grant making scheme for so long.  

1.4 Match funding grants are currently made up to £20,000 (by Cabinet) and £5,000 (by 
delegated decision) for any voluntary or community project that can be aligned to the 
priorities within the Council’s Corporate Plan.  It should be noted, that the Council receives 
repeat applications seeking similar investment from across the district, with almost all 

26

Agenda Item 8



2

projects able to qualify for funding through alignment with the Corporate Plan.  It is the 
opinion of the report author that a more strategic approach should be taken by the Council 
to grant giving in the future.  

1.5 There is currently a balance of £1.2m in reserve for use on the match funding scheme.  The 
level of reserve available to support grant giving is diminishing each year and based on 
present model can maintain current levels of spend for a further 6 years.  To ensure the 
sustainability of our grant giving programme in the long term, it is the opinion of the report 
author that the Council should review its funding arrangements for this scheme.  

1.6 The £1.2m reserve is currently allocated for match funding and cannot be used for any 
other purpose unless it is de-allocated by Council.

1.7 There are a number of options open to the Council to enable it to continue its grant giving 
programme but in a manner that is more affordable and has greater longevity.  These are 
detailed in subsequent sections of the report.

Breckland Lottery

1.8 A local authority lottery is a concept that has been explored by a number of local authorities 
across the country and has now been introduced in several places. At a time when there 
are increasing pressures on funding available to the voluntary and community sector they 
are being seen as a way of providing support to bring in additional funding.  

1.9 Aylesbury Vale was the first to launch an online local authority lottery in November 2015. 
This is run by Gatherwell, an External Lottery Manager (ELM). Since then, local authority 
lotteries are known to have started in a number of places including:  Portsmouth, 
Gloucester, Peterborough, Mendip, Melton and Rushmoor, amongst others.  

1.10 The Gambling Act 2005 includes as a permitted category of a lottery, a ‘local authority 
lottery’. Local authority lotteries are promoted by the local authority and must be licenced by 
the Gambling Commission. Authorities may use the net proceeds of such lotteries for any 
purpose for which they have power to incur expenditure.  

1.11 The options for running a local authority lottery include running it in-house, or to partner with 
an External Lottery Manager (ELM). To run a lottery in-house would require staffing, 
including a lottery manager and the purchase and running of software systems. The costs 
of this have not been explored in detail by officers but other local authorities have found 
them to be significant.  If the Council were to partner with an ELM, other than small initial 
start-up costs, the operation of the lottery would be fully funded through the ticket proceeds 
and would bring in the skills and expertise to run all elements of the lottery process.  

1.12    Further detail on how a Breckland Lottery could operate if an ELM [such as Gatherwell] was 
employed, is provided in the appendices to this report. In summary: -

a) Tickets are purchased (on-line only) for £1 and each ticket has a 1 in 50 chance to win; 
b) Prizes are likely to be in the range of free tickets for matching 2 out of 6 numbers to a 

maximum prize of £25,000 for matching all 6 numbers;  
c) Draws are every Saturday with results posted live online and winners notified by email;  
d) Players sign up on-line and payment is via Direct Debit or payment card);  
e) Players can purchase multiple tickets for multiple good causes;  
f) Winning players are notified via email and receive prize money directly into their 

nominated account or can donate their prize to a nominated good cause;  
g) Good causes are paid their income automatically on a monthly basis.  

27



3

The income from each £1 would be broken down as follows:-

 50% to local good causes
 10% to general fund 
 20% to prize fund
 17% to ELM
 3% to VAT

1.13 The grant funding element of the lottery income would be split between specific local ‘good 
causes’ which can be chosen by the ticket purchaser, and a general fund which would be 
distributed to good causes chosen by the Council. Good causes wanting to participate in 
the lottery would apply and need to be approved by the Council.

1.14 The criteria for selecting which good causes will be eligible to be included and benefit from 
the Breckland Lottery would need to be agreed by the Council. 

2. OPTIONS

2.1 To secure the long term future of the Council’s grant giving programme a number of options 
have been considered.  It should be noted at this stage that discontinuing grant giving in its 
entirety has not been considered in the preparation of this report but is an option open to 
the Council.

2.2 Option 1: Do nothing

The Council could choose to continue to operate the match funding scheme as it currently 
stands.  The Council will be able to offer grants at the same level for a further 6 years until 
the funding runs out at which point the grant giving will have to cease or be funded from 
elsewhere.

This option is not recommended. In maintaining the current scheme the Council would 
continue to benefit from local community support but would not be: 1. making strategic 
decisions on grant funding; 2. ensuring the long term sustainability of grant giving; 3. 
reflecting the affordability of the grant giving model as part of the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plan.  

2.3        Option 2: Fund at same level with adapted criteria

The Council could continue to fund at the same level and over the same time period but 
change the funding criteria.  This option is not recommended. Whilst this option would 
ensure a more strategic spend around re-defined funding priorities (not ‘catch-all’ as 
currently) it would not sustain the grant giving long-term.

2.4        Option 3: Fund at reduced level with same or adapted criteria

This option, in essence, extends the time period that grants are available beyond six years 
by reducing the amount allocated for funding each year.  The issue of redefined criteria has 
been considered above (option 2).  This would be the simplest way of extending the 

28



4

Council’s grant giving over a longer period of time but does not address issues of 
affordability or sustainability in any real sense and is therefore not recommended. 

2.5        Option 4: Investment model 

With this option, the Council could de-allocate the reserve for match funding and invest 
these funds in commercial property or another income generating venture linked to the 
Council’s Investment Strategy.  Any return on this investment – subject to financial 
procedures and rules – could be used for grant funding.  This option would in all likelihood 
reduce the amount of grant funding available but would secure the future of grant giving 
indefinitely by only committing the “return” and not the “investment”.  Indicative sums are 
provided in the table below.

 
Investment Type % Return Return
£1.2m Bank 0.5 £6,000
£1.2m Investment 3 £36,000
£1.2m Investment 6 £72,000

 
2.6       Option 5: Breckland Lottery

In addition to the above, or alongside, a new local authority lottery scheme could be 
introduced.  As detailed above a number of other authorities have or are introducing such a 
scheme.  Further information on how this would operate and what’s involved is provided 
above and in the appendices.  A lottery scheme would be a sustainable model for providing 
funding support to local good causes and would complement their own fundraising 
endeavours.  

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 A combination of Options 4. and 5. is recommended.

3.2 It is recommended that £300,000 is maintained in the match funding reserve to support 
local voluntary and community groups in 2017/18 and 2018/19 with up to £150,000 funding 
per annum.  The current match funding procedures will remain in place for this sum.

3.3 It is recommended that the remaining balance in the match funding reserve is deallocated 
and made available for spend elsewhere linked to the Council’s developing Investment 
Strategy. 

 3.4 It is further recommended that a Breckland Lottery is established to supplement the grant 
giving arrangements described above.

3.5 Continuing to operate the match funding (as it stands) for the remainder of 2017/18 and 
through 2018/19 [with £150,000 available per annum] will enable the transition to the new 
arrangements to be managed effectively, i.e. the lottery scheme to be introduced and the 
return from any investment to be realised (and subsequently used for grant funding).  

3.6 The combination of both options would ensure that we can continue to invite applications 
from communities across the district (using the investment yield) for funding and support 
specific, pre-identified “good causes” through the Breckland Lottery.  

3.7 This combined approach would ensure the longevity of grant funding, provide a more 
strategic approach to any allocations and be more affordable. 

29



5

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 A Local Authority Lottery has the potential to raise additional funds for the voluntary and 
community sector in Breckland at no ongoing cost to those groups and to the Council itself. 
Whilst the Council can do some promotion, the success of the lottery will be down to 
promotion by those good causes to the local community and the groups themselves.  

4.2      The Investment Model approach to grant giving, in parallel with the introduction of a lottery, 
will ensure that the Council’s much-valued grant giving programme can continue in the long 
term and be focused on local good causes/projects.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.2 In order to operate a Local Authority Lottery, the Council would need to apply for a Local 
Authority Lottery Licence from the Gambling Commission

5.2.3 A local authority licensed by the Gambling Commission is required to have at least one 
Personal Management Licence holder.  

5.2.4 Under the Constitution, Council approval is needed for the reallocation of reserves with a balance 
greater than £100,000.01.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1  There would need to be a contractual arrangement with an ELM (who must also be licensed) 
to run the lottery although the Council would retain obligations to the Gambling 
Commission.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1  This report links to all corporate priorities but particularly: Supporting Breckland to develop 
and thrive and Enabling stronger, more independent communities.

5.5       Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1    It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1  The proposed arrangements for the match funding reserve are detailed in the main body of 
the report.  

 

30



6

5.7.2  There will be an initial set up cost for the Breckland Lottery of less than £5000 that can be 
met through existing budgets.   The annual costs can be reclaimed through the lottery ticket 
sales income.  

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1    It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 Any change to a successful grant giving programme is not without risk.  That said, the 
expected benefits as described in this report – particularly the sustainability of grant giving 
far outweigh the significant risk which is around loss of community support.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 From date of approval it would take 6 months to introduce a Breckland Lottery and it would 
therefore be ready for launch in January 2018.  It is proposed that the match funding 
arrangements as described above are in place until 31 March 2019 by which time any 
investment made with reallocated reserves should be generating a return for funding 
purposes. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Rob Walker
Telephone Number: 07867 988826
Email: Robert.walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes / No 

Exempt Decision: Yes / No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service

Appendices: 

Gatherwell proposals.

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place and Rob Walker, Executive 
Director Place

To: Cabinet - 11 July 2017
Full Council – 27 July 2017

(Author: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager)

Subject: Public Spaces Protection Order - Thetford

Purpose: To review the existing Designated Public Place Order (DPPO) in Thetford 
with regards to creating a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members note the results of the consultation exercise (Appendix A)

2) That Members approve Option 2 and agree to proceed with the implementation of the PSPO 
for the restricted area (Appendix B) prohibiting the following activities:

a) Consumption of alcohol in a public place
b) Urination and defection in a public place
c) Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone

3) That Members approve Option 3 and agree to delegate authority to the Executive Director 
Place in consultation with the Executive Member Place, to carry out variations to any 
implemented PSPOs 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced new powers to tackle 
anti-social behaviour, one of which being the power to implement Public Spaces Protection 
Orders. Only a local authority can make a PSPO in respect of a public place within its area.

1.2 These orders are designed to stop anti-social behaviour being committed in a public place. 
It can be used to deal with existing problems and problems that are likely to arise in the 
future.    

1.3 The Council may make an Order if they are satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that the 
following two conditions are met:

 
First condition

 Activities carried out in a public place in the local authority’s area have a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality or

 It is likely that the activities will be carried out in a public place within the area that 
will have such an effect

Second condition
           The effect or likely effect of the activities:

 Is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature
 Is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable and

56

Agenda Item 9



 Justifies the restrictions imposed

1.4            The Order identifies the public spaces affected as the ‘restricted area’ and can:

 Prohibit specific things from being done in the restricted area
 Require specific things to be done by persons carrying out specific activities in the 

area
 Or both

The only prohibitions or requirements that can be imposed are ones that are reasonable
to impose in order to:

 Prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring
 Reduce the detrimental effect or reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence,   

and recurrence.

1.5       The Act states that ‘necessary consultation’ must be undertaken before a Public Spaces
Protection Order is introduced. The Act defines this as consulting with:

 The Chief of Police for the restricted area
 The Police and Crime Commissioner
 Whatever community representatives the local authority thinks is appropriate
 As far as is practicable, the owner or occupier of the land

1.6 On 21st March 2017 Cabinet gave approval for necessary consultation on the introduction 
of PSPOs for the five market towns to commence, with the first round of consultation being 
in regard to Thetford Town Centre.

1.7 CONSULTATION 

1.8 Consultation commenced on 21st April 2017 and ended on 12th May 2017.  An online 
consultation form was created as well as paper copies of the form being available from a 
number of public buildings across the town.  In total 450 responses were received.  The 
summary of the consultation is shown in Appendix A.

1.9 Three activities were proposed to be prohibited based on feedback from Norfolk 
Constabulary and Thetford Town Council.  These activities were:

Consumption of alcohol in a public place

1.10 In regards to the consultation results, 95% of respondents had seen people persistently 
consuming alcohol in a public place; 65% believed this issue had got worse over the last 12 
months; 73% stated that they had been affected by this issue and 95% agreed that the 
Council should prohibit this activity.

Urination and defecation in a public place

1.11 67% of respondents stated they had seen evidence of people persistently urinating and 
defecating in a public place; 47% believed it had got worse over the last 12 months; 61% 
stated that they had been affected by this issue and 95% agreed that the Council should 
prohibit this activity.

57



Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone

 1.12   84% of respondents stated that they had seen people persistently using a bicycle, 
skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone; 48% believed this issue had got worse 
over the last 12 months; 64% stated they had been affected by this issue and 86% agreed 
that the Council should prohibit this activity.

1.13 The survey provided the option for people to suggest any changes to the activities that 
should be prohibited.  45 people chose to respond to this question with ‘spitting’ being the 
common response.  This was also expressed as an area of concern by the Safer Thetford 
Action Group and will be monitored moving forwards.  PSPOs are more flexible than 
DPPOs with the ability to make variations to the order at any point during their three year 
term.  Should this issue prove to meet the test to be added to an existing PSPO the 
legislation gives the Council power to do this.

1.14 In order to ensure the benefit of this more responsive, flexible approach to changing 
community issues, authority to vary any implemented order could be delegated to the 
Executive Director Place in consultation with the Executive Member Place therefore 
avoiding the need to go through a full committee process.

1.15 Consultation was also undertaken on the proposed area that the PSPO would cover, known 
as the restricted area.  A proposal was put forwards which had been developed by Norfolk 
Constabulary in conjunction with the Safer Thetford Action Group (Appendix C).  92% of 
respondents agreed with the proposed area of the PSPO.

1.16 Should the Council approve the implementation of the PSPO, the draft order will need to be 
published in accordance with the regulations produced by the Secretary of State.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option 1. Do nothing. This will mean that the existing Designated Public Place Order 
(DPPO) will remain in place until 20 October 2017. At this point it will automatically become 
a Public Spaces Protection Order (to address alcohol in public) without the need for any 
additional action on the part of the Council.

2.2 Option 2. Proceed with the implementation of the PSPO for the restricted area (Appendix B) 
prohibiting the following activities:

a)   Consumption of alcohol in a public place
b)   Urination and defection in a public place
c)   Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone

2.3 Option 3: Delegate authority to the Executive Director Place in consultation with the 
Executive Member Place, to adapt existing PSPOs.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The Council has a statutory duty to work in partnership with other agencies to reduce crime 
and anti-social behaviour.  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
introduced new powers to tackle anti-social behaviour, one of which being the power to 
implement Public Spaces Protection Orders. 

58



3.2 The consultation exercise has evidenced significant support from all stakeholders for the 
proposed PSPO to be implemented

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By going to consultation the Council has ascertained the type and frequency of anti-social 
behaviour that members of the public are experiencing in Thetford Town Centre.

4.2 Responding appropriately to the results of the consultation and implementing an 
appropriate PSPO demonstrates the Council’s commitment to addressing the concerns 
around reducing and preventing crime and protecting the community and environment of 
the town centre.

4.3 In order to evaluate the impact the PSPO has if implemented, it is proposed that a 
monitoring group of key stakeholders led by Breckland Council be created.  This group 
would meet at appropriate intervals to scrutinise the data associated with the Order, likely to 
include the number of reported incidents of breaches, the location of reported incidents and 
the action taken by authorised agencies.  This would help support any future proposed 
variations to the order as well as assessing its effectiveness.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 The introduction of PSPO’s will help protect the natural environment which currently 

experiences incidents of anti-social behaviour.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 The first section of this report has set out the legal framework for creating PSPOs as set out 

in Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 which has been adhered to.

5.3 Corporate Priorities
5.3.1 The recommendations in this report contribute to the following Council Priorities and 

Objectives:
 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Work together with partners and local communities to make public spaces cleaner, 

greener and safer
 Work with our partners to reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and 

protect the community and environment

5.4 Crime and Disorder 
5.4.1 Anti-social behaviour covers a variety of unacceptable activities that affect community life 

and the life of individuals and families. The introduction of PSPO’s across our market towns 
has the potential to deliver significant positive community impact if enforced to their full 
potential. 

59



5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.5.1 The two issues that must be addressed for every proposed restriction/variation in a PSPO 

are whether the statutory criteria are met and whether those variations are proportionate. It 
is a question of balancing rights and freedoms of individuals against the needs of the wider 
community. 

5.5.2 The formal consultation has evidenced the requirement to prohibit activities that have a 
detrimental impact on the quality of life of the community and will be applied to all. 
Consideration has been given to what activities are prohibited, where the restrictions will 
apply and what times they will apply in order to ensure that the human rights of individuals 
are not interfered with.

5.6      Financial 
5.6.1 There are no material financial implications associated with this report. The London 

Borough of Lambeth published costs of the statutory consultation and subsequent signage 
for the introduction of a borough wide PSPO at £5000. It is unlikely that costs would exceed 
this amount in Thetford as the order would be restricted to a smaller location and the 
consultation was undertaken by Council Officers at minimal additional cost. 

5.7 Health & Wellbeing
5.7.1 There are no direct implications other than potentially reducing the opportunity for alcohol 

misuse and the possibility of signposting people to the appropriate support agencies and 
services.

5.8 Reputation 
5.8.1 To improve perceptions of Community Safety, the Council needs to address community 

concerns. Not taking any action at all could risk worsening perception of community safety.

5.9 Risk Management 
5.9.1 Key risks have been identified as follows:

1. Public expectations are raised unrealistically and a subsequent order cannot be 
enforced to the anticipated extent. To mitigate this, the Council will continue to work in 
partnership to ensure available resources are used in the most effective way to tackle 
the issues identified.

2. The potential of stigmatising locations covered by a PSPO is a concern as this may be 
counterproductive in trying to stimulate economic growth into the town centre. To 
mitigate this carefully considered communications are necessary to promote the 
positive impact of any order.

3.    The introduction of a geographically defined PSPO may simply displace problems 
currently being experienced beyond the area of coverage. To mitigate this 
comprehensive discussions have taken place with Norfolk Constabulary to ensure that 
the geographical area being considered covers an adequate area to address the key 
manifestations of antisocial behaviour. 

4.    The criminalisation of non-criminal behaviour where the terms of a PSPO are 
breached. There is a risk that certain individuals may breach an order regularly and be 
drawn into the criminal justice system. To mitigate this it is intended to ensure that 
where specific issues are identified, individuals will be signposted to assistance and 
support to address the root courses of behaviour and not simply be subject to ongoing 
enforcement action. It is also worth noting that discharging of a breach via a Fixed 
Penalty avoids prosecution and is not a recordable offence.

60



5.10 Safeguarding
5.10.1 Those individuals who may be in breach of a PSPO may be ‘vulnerable’ with their own 

needs. Additional support as well as enforcement may be needed on some occasions.

5.11 Staffing 
5.11.1 The recent Service Review of the Communities and Environmental Services Teams 

created two Enforcement Officer roles.  These will assist in the enforcement of certain 
elements of the PSPO.

5.11.2 PSPOs can be enforced by Police Officers, authorised Police Community Support 
Officers (PCSOs), Council Officers and other groups designated by the Council.  A 
discussion has taken place with Thetford Town Council in terms of adopting a 
partnership approach to enforcement, and it is envisaged that similar discussion will 
also take place with other Town Councils.

    5.11.3          It has been acknowledged that whilst the Council have the legal ability to enforce 
against street drinkers, it is accepted that enforcement against this group carries a 
heightened risk to personal safety.  Norfolk Constabulary will accept responsibility for 
enforcement with support by the Council if required.  A breach of the Order is a criminal 
offence and can be dealt with through the issuing of a Fixed Penalty Notice of up to 
£100, or a level 3 fine of up to £1000 on prosecution.    

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.12.1        A comprehensive consultation exercise has been undertaken in line with the statutory 

requirements.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
6.1 All Thetford Wards are affected.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 PSPO – Public Spaces Protection Order

7.2 DPPO – Designated Public Place Order

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Officer
Telephone Number: 01362 656306
Email: Stephen.james@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: NO

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A PSPO Consultation Summary
Appendix B Restricted Area

61



90.44% 407

5.56% 25

12.22% 55

32.67% 147

2.67% 12

6.00% 27

Q1 In what capacity are you responding to
this consultation? Please tick all that apply

Answered: 450 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 450  

Local resident

Local business
owner/manager

Person who
works in...

Person who
visits Thetf...

Local
Councillor

Local
Community/Vo...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Local resident

Local business owner/manager

Person who works in Thetford Town Centre

Person who visits Thetford Town Centre

Local Councillor

Local Community/Voluntary group representative

1 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

62



95.33% 429

4.67% 21

Q2 A PSPO can prohibit multiple
activities.  Breckland Council proposes to
prohibit the following activities within the

designated area:1) Consumption of alcohol
in a public place within the designated

area2) Urination and defecation in a public
place within the designated area3) Use of a

bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a
pedestrian zone within the designated

areaPlease answer the following
questions:Have you seen people

persistently drinking alcohol in a public
place within Thetford Town Centre in the

last 12 months?
Answered: 450 Skipped: 0

Total 450

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

2 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

63



2.46% 11

64.65% 289

21.92% 98

10.96% 49

Q3 Has this got better or worse in Thetford
Town Centre in the last 12 months?

Answered: 447 Skipped: 3

Total 447

Better

Worse

No change

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Better

Worse

No change

Don't know

3 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

64



73.20% 325

26.80% 119

Q4 Have you been affected by this issue in
Thetford Town Centre in the last 12

months?
Answered: 444 Skipped: 6

Total 444

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

4 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

65



95.28% 424

4.72% 21

Q5 Should Breckland Council seek to
prohibit this activity through a Public

Spaces Protection Order covering the area
shown on the map?

Answered: 445 Skipped: 5

Total 445

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

5 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

66



66.74% 297

33.26% 148

Q6 Have you seen evidence of people
persistently urinating or defecating in a

public place within Thetford Town Centre in
the last 12 months?

Answered: 445 Skipped: 5

Total 445

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

6 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

67



1.56% 7

47.32% 212

21.65% 97

29.46% 132

Q7 Has this got better or worse in Thetford
Town Centre in the last 12 months?

Answered: 448 Skipped: 2

Total 448

Better

Worse

No change

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Better

Worse

No change

Don't know

7 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

68



61.31% 271

38.69% 171

Q8 Have you been affected by this issue in
Thetford Town Centre in the last 12

months?
Answered: 442 Skipped: 8

Total 442

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

8 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

69



95.03% 421

4.97% 22

Q9 Should Breckland Council seek to
prohibit this activity through a Public

Spaces Protection Order covering the area
shown on the map?

Answered: 443 Skipped: 7

Total 443

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

9 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

70



84.27% 375

15.73% 70

Q10 Have you seen people persistently
using a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a

pedestrian zone within Thetford Town
Centre in the last 12 months?

Answered: 445 Skipped: 5

Total 445

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

10 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

71



2.90% 13

47.54% 213

32.81% 147

16.74% 75

Q11 Has this got better or worse in Thetford
Town Centre in the last 12 months?

Answered: 448 Skipped: 2

Total 448

Better

Worse

No change

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Better

Worse

No change

Don't know

11 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

72



63.62% 285

36.38% 163

Q12 Have you been affected by this issue in
Thetford Town Centre in the last 12

months?
Answered: 448 Skipped: 2

Total 448

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

12 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

73



85.68% 383

14.32% 64

Q13 Should Breckland Council seek to
prohibit this activity through a Public

Spaces Protection Order covering the area
shown on the map?

Answered: 447 Skipped: 3

Total 447

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

13 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

74



Q14 If you don't agree with the proposals
please state what activities should be
prohibited within the designated area,

ensuring the following information is given
(if you agree with the proposals please skip

this question):1) Description of the
activity2) How long it has been an issue
for3)  How the activity has affected you

Answered: 45 Skipped: 405

14 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

75



91.63% 405

8.37% 37

Q15 Do you agree with the proposed area of
the PSPO

Answered: 442 Skipped: 8

Total 442

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Answer Choices Responses

Yes

No

15 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

76



Q16 What roads or areas do you think
should be added to the proposed PSPO?

Answered: 26 Skipped: 424

16 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

77



Q17 What roads or areas do you think
should be removed from the proposed

PSPO?
Answered: 8 Skipped: 442

17 / 17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Consultation - Thetford SurveyMonkey

78



Facilities Management

Elizabeth House

Walpole Loke

Dereham

Norfolk

 NR19 1EE

79

AutoCAD SHX Text
c  Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100019535

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DRAWING  DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
DRAWING  No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
PRODUCED BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
SCALES

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
TITLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
reproduction infringes copyright.    

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
land District Council. Unauthorised

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
thereon are the copyright of Breck-

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
This drawing and the works depicted

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
c

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Tel: 01362 656870

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Fax: 01362 656877

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
PUBLIC SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
PROTECTION ORDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
THETFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
PRD

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
June 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
THETFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Statue

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
War Mem

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Trough

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
FRED ATTFIELD COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Green Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
River Thet

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Weir (Dry)

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Weir

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Sluices

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
River Thet

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Little

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Nuns' Bridges

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Butten Island

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
River Thet

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
Walk

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
Blaydon

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
Tk

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
SAXON BANK



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place and Rob Walker, Executive 
Director Place

To: Overview & Scrutiny 6 July 2017
Cabinet 11 July 2017

(Author: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager)

Subject: Unsightly and derelict sites and land 

Purpose: To update Members and consider further and ongoing actions concerning 
unsightly and derelict sites and land.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members note the content of the report and the actions taken to date;

2) That Members consider the sites (Appendix A); agree to a prioritised list and agree future 
actions where appropriate

3) That Members agree the proposed Performance Framework 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Ensuring our District is clean, safe and well-kept is one of the Council’s highest priorities. 
It is important that we do all we can to ensure this priority is met. As a Council we have 
limited direct control over privately owned land. However, we take seriously our role as 
custodian of standards and we have a range of measures at our disposal to enforce such 
standards when the need arises.

1.2 As a result of a decision taken by Cabinet, Members nominated a number of sites 
throughout the District that were, in their view, significantly and adversely impacting upon 
the character and appearance of their immediate and wider environment or the general 
well-being of the communities within which they were located. Officers from a range of 
professional disciplines considered the detail and background of each site. Some are 
already subject to positive actions such as planning applications; some had no previous 
action taken or action taken had failed to secure improvement and all are presented on 
the attached appendices.

1.3         The properties detailed at Appendix A have been assessed by Officers.  In the absence of 
an established method of prioritising such sites a scoring system has been developed and 
applied (Appendix B). This has enabled a prioritisation of sites for action but does not 
mean that those sites which are not prioritised are disregarded. 

1.4        The sites thus far selected are not seen as an exhaustive list of sites that, District-wide, 
adversely affect the amenities of the communities within which they are set. They 
represent an initial attempt to identify those sites that are the subject of known local 
concern. All sites will require active positive or coercive engagement with individual 
owners in order to achieve a successful outcome. A letter has been drafted (Appendix C), 

80

Agenda Item 10



based on that used successfully by South Holland District Council, that firstly encourages 
owners to engage ahead of the need for enforcement action.

1.5         Members are also invited, either through their own local knowledge or as a consequence 
of engagement with their Wards, to put forward other sites for consideration and future 
actions. In doing so, Members are reminded that the over-riding objective of this exercise 
is to take concerted actions against sites that, as a consequence of a variety of factors, 
have a significant deleterious impact on the locations, or places, within which they are set.

1.6         Members are advised that as a matter of operational routine, a wide variety of other 
generally smaller sites are monitored through, for example, the planning process or are 
dealt with regularly by, in combination, environmental health, environmental services 
and/or building control. The parameters for the inclusion of sites within the Unsightly and 
Derelict Sites and Land initiative need, therefore, to be based on an agreed understanding 
that individual sites are in such a state of unsightliness or dereliction, generally through 
long-term neglect, that they are adversely impacting on their surroundings by reasons of 
either their overall appearance or unmaintained status and are likely to become, or have 
become, unsafe or are attracting anti-social behaviour.

1.7 It is proposed that in order to satisfy the need for a Performance Framework and ensure 
that the benefits of the initiative are realised it is proposed that the unsightly sites list 
(Appendix A) is used as an action plan.  This would capture progress, record the 
outcomes of intervention (e.g. stimulating development) and allow ongoing Member 
engagement through Overview & Scrutiny.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing - This option would result in no, or limited and uncoordinated, action being 
taken on the sites so far identified, and perhaps others, with these sites therefore 
potentially remaining in a state that continues to significantly and adversely impact on the 
communities within which they are set.

2.2 Endorse the recommendations – This option would enable officers to focus their efforts in 
securing, through a variety of negotiated and punitive measures, significant improvements 
to sites that currently adversely affect the communities within which they are set.

2.3 In endorsing the recommendation set out at 2.2 members are advised that each site is 
different and that the actions required have differing consequences, both financially and in 
terms of the timescales within which results are likely to be achieved. Nevertheless, this is 
an on-going initiative aimed at addressing the adverse impacts arising from the continued 
presence of unsightly and derelict sites and land within the District.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To promote a co-ordinated approach to positive intervention on those sites which have a 
major detrimental effect upon the character, appearance and well-being of the 
communities within which they are set.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1   A number of tangible benefits are expected and these will be captured through the 
Performance Framework. These will range from significant environmental improvements 
to the immediate and wider area to reducing the likelihood of continuing and ongoing anti-
social behaviour. In some circumstances the benefits will range across this spectrum and 

81



in others there may be an opportunity to actively promote redevelopment in the medium or 
longer-term to the overall benefit of those communities currently adversely impacted upon.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no direct implications on Carbon 

Footprint but that there are likely to be wide-ranging benefits to the environment of both the 
communities within which these sites are located and the wider District.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no Constitutional implications arising 

from these actions other than a possible extension to officer delegations but that, on an 
individual case-by-case basis, the Legal Implications will need to be understood and 
regularly reviewed and reported upon.

5.3 Corporate Priorities
5.3.1 This initiative meets the following Corporate Priority:

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive

5.4 Crime and Disorder 
5.4.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that, in some instances, positive intervention is likely to 

reduce the likelihood of Crime and Disorder.

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no direct implications on either Equality 

and Diversity or Human Rights. However, equality and human rights issues will be 
considered on an individual case-by-case basis before any action is taken.

5.6 Financial 
5.6.1 In some instances there are likely to be financial implications as a consequence of the 

actions taken by the Council. These will be reported on a site-by-site basis as and when 
necessary with a cost benefit assessment undertaken.

5.7 Health & Wellbeing
5.7.1 There are likely to be benefits arising from this initiative which will have a positive effect 

upon the health and well-being of affected communities. These will be reported on a site by 
site basis.

5.8 Reputation 
5.8.1 Taking action to address sites and land across the District that is having a detrimental effect 

on the local community will have a positive effect on the Councils reputation. 

5.9 Risk Management 

82



5.9.1 In order to mitigate risk, each site will be fully evaluated prior to any action being instigated.

5.10 Staffing
5.10.1 There are no immediate staffing implications but there are likely to be future resource 

implications arising from continued actions. These will be reported when they arise.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.11.1 Stakeholder Engagement is key to this initiative and consultation will be undertaken, on a 

site-by-site basis, when either necessary or statutorily required. This will include positive 
engagement with both site owners and, where necessary, affected Ward Members.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656306
Email: Stephen.james@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Unsightly sites and derelict land
Appendix B Scoring System
Appendix C Owner Letter

83



Rank Ward Parish Location Issue Score Opinion/ Context
Looked at/ being dealt by 
Breckland

Action By Planning 
Enforcement

1 Dereham Withburga Dereham Near: QD, 2 Chapel Walk, High Street, 
Dereham NR19 1TZ

Site appears to be waste land and visually 
unpleasant for both workers and visitors to 
the town.

15 This is an eyesore to the area. Next steps 
will involve clarifying owners with a view to 
addressing the issue. 

2 Dereham Withburga Dereham Alleyway between Sense and Subway: 
Market Place-Quebec St, Dereham NR19 
2DW

The passageway used by residents has 
pigeon excrement covering large portions 
of it. 

14 Will speak to relevant party with a view of 
resolving issue by cleaning and trying to 
prevent problem reoccurring.

3 Watton Watton An Address On Norwich Road, Watton IP25 
6UT

Overgrown land 14 Property stands out from neighbouring 
properties. May lead to an Env Health 
issue. Will give the owner a chance to 
engage and resolve the issues in the first 
instance. 

4 Dereham Withburga Dereham Hobbies, 34 - 36 Swaffham Rd, Dereham 
NR19 2QT

Site appears to be waste land and visually 
unpleasant.

13 As there is high traffic and footfall. There 
may be an opportunity to engage with  the 
owner to clean up and provide more 
suitable fencing/boarding in area to make 
the site less of an eye sore. 

5 Dereham Neatherd Dereham 24 Swanton Road, Dereham NR19 2HH Derelict property for many years 13 The grounds are severely overgrowing. 
Contacting owner to advise with a view to 
getting it cleared. 

Planning Permission approved Demolishment approved Dec 16, 2 new 
dwelling to be built on site within 3 years.

6 Dereham Withburga Dereham South Green, Dereham The South Green site is derelict and 
unmaintained. 

13 This site is unmaintained, not very secure 
and an eyesore in the locality. Litter and 
trolley on-site also. Enforcement action to 
be considered. 

7 Watton Watton  Gable Court entrance in Watton High St The site appears unkept and untidy on High 
St. 

13 Substantial Fly Tip just off busy road and 
footpath with high footfall. Enforcement 
Officer aware and will contact owner to 
take appropriate action

8 Dereham Withburga Dereham Alleyway Jentique Estate, Dereham NR19 
1GA

Alleyway in need of maintenance work 
(cleaning).

12 This is located in a large residential area 
and would improve the overall locality if it 
were cleaned. 

9 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Rear of shops Nat West Side: Market Place, 
Dereham 

Litter is scattered across the area. 12 This has the potential to be fixed quickly. 
Possible resolutions  can be looked into e.g. 
bins. Busy area of the town. 

10 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Rear of The Co-Operative Food Store, 36-37 
Market Place, Dereham NR19 2AP

The plants and bushes have not been 
maintained and are now overgrown. 

12 This  has the opportunity to be a relative 
quick fix. Ownership/responsibility to be 
identified and offered to engage. 

84



11 Thetford Burrell Thetford Social Services Depot, Elm Road, Thetford 
IP24 3HL

Overgrown untidy site 12 The building is securely boarded. However, 
the grounds are overgrown and 
encroaching on the highway. Litter is 
starting to build up. Recommend liaising 
with the owner to resolve the issue.

12 Thetford Burrell Thetford Thetford Mowers, 31 Bury Road Thetford 
IP24 3BZ

Commercial property is no longer 
maintained and detracts from the area 
visually. 

12 Located on Bury Road. There are residential 
and commercial properties either site of 
the building. Will look to engage with 
owner. 

13 Dereham Withburga Dereham Manor House, Church St, Dereham NR19 
1DN

Decaying window sills, plaque & door 10 The property is boarded up and plants etc. 
are relatively well kept. However due to the 
location next to an entrance/exit of JD 
Weatherspoons in the market town. The 
issues of the property are exacerbated. 

14 Watton Watton Grassed areas in Lovell Gardens, Watton 9 Persistent problem with fly tipping, bins 
and parking.  Locality Team are working on 
the issueswith a view to making the estate 
a better place for the 170+ houses

This site will be incorporated as part of a 
larger project by the Localities team. 
(Formally Communities & Env Services)

15 Saham Toney Carbrooke Land behind: Spar, 4 Vulcan Place, 
Carbrooke IP25 6XU

Caravan located on the site. 8 Large amount of litter. As this is easily 
accessible with cover, there is potential for 
ASB or other issues which residents would 
find intimidating. 

Owner has been contacted re caravan and 
site and is ongoing. 

16 Saham Toney Carbrooke Land in front of: Buckingham Lodge, 
Buckingham Close, Carbrooke,Watton IP25 
6WL

The upkeep of the site has fallen below 
standards and appears scruffy.

8 Lots of materials which are not secure with 
a lot a litter, in very close proximity to 4 
Vulcan place. This provides a bad 
impression on the area. 

17 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Near Memorial Hall Dereham, Norwich St, 
Dereham, NR19 1AD 

Empty, Unoccupied property which is no 
longer inhabited. 

8 Will monitor and liaise with relevant 
department(s). Site has potential to impact 
on residents lives and overall quality of 
locality.

Ongoing and currently being dealt with by 
Housing,.

18 Necton Necton Diner, Norwich Road, Necton PE37 7HT A visually prominent building which is 
empty and in a state of disrepair.

8 An ongoing problem. Planning Enforcement 
are involved, the issue will continue to be 
monitored due to its prominent location on 

Section 215 notice to being considered Notice would advise to board up 

19 Watton Watton An Address in  Lovell Gardens, Watton IP25 
6TU

Front drive/garden area is almost 
completely jam packed with all manner of 
scrap materials, old tyres, a boat and two 
old caravans

8 Planning enforcement are considering 
appropriate action 

Section 215 notice to be considered

20 Dereham Withburga Dereham The Akaash Restaurant, 23 Market Place, 
Dereham NR19 2AX

Poor upkeep (Permanently closed) 7 Will continue to monitor site. Premises closed no involvement with 
Breckland since Dec 16

21 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Near Cowper Road car park: St Nicholas 
Iron Works, Georges Rd, Dereham

Only surviving building of Derehams 
industrial Victorian past – decaying iron 
work, window details and brickwork

7 Will research what can be done re site. 
Definitely not an short term product due to 
the scale of work. 

22 Thetford Burrell Thetford Cottage Hospital, Earl Street, Thetford 7 Pre-application submitted to Planning, 
owners are  working with Breckland. I am 
confident this will get resolved but not a 
'Quick Fix'

Town council, Planning and Housing 
involved. 

Pre-application has been submitted

85



23 Attleborough Burgh & 
Havercroft 

Attleborough The Banham Poultry buildings  fronting 
Station Road, Attleborough NR17 2AS

Boarded up windows and doorway The 
grounds have overgrown with trees and 
brambles (onto the public footpath). There 
us litter covering the front garden and a 
front wall is missing multiple bricks.

6 Located on busy road into town, property 
boarded up but fenced off on busy 
industrial estate. Property monitored by 
company.

24 Dereham Withburga Dereham USA Chicken, 16 Quebec Street, Dereham 
NR19 2DJ

The property's upper two floors has 
decaying windows and an issue with 
pigeons. 

6 Letter to owner advising would be 
preferable to any formal enforcement 
action. 

25 Dereham Withburga Dereham Moorgate House, South Green, Dereham Decaying windows, suspect problems and 
cracks at roof level and rubbish across area.

6 Will monitor moving forward and speak to 
planning. 

26 Dereham Withburga Dereham Gilpins Ride,  Dereham Property is empty, unnocupied and appears 
abandoned.

6

27 Dereham Withburga Dereham Quebec St, Dereham NR19 2DJ Property not maintained with  pigeon 
excrement on site.

6 Other public areas have been identified to 
have issues with pigeons. Will look to 
resolve all as one. Like other sites, this is in 
a busy market town with high traffic and 
footfall. 

28 Lincoln East Bilney Bilney House, Church Road, East Bilney, 
Dereham NR20 3HQ

Property unkept, unoccupied for several 
years.

6 A very rural location, although site is 
relatively well kept for an empty property. 
Buildings are set back off small B road so 
would not present issue for pedestrians or 
traffic. 

A planning application has been recently 
refused.

Property is managed.

29 Thetford Burrell Thetford An Address In  Newtown, Thetford IP24 
3AU

The building is boarded up and has fallen 
into a state of disrepair.  

6 Planning App 3PL/2017/0747/LB replace 
rear porch and internal alterations. There 
were no objections with the Historic 
Building Consultant. Will continue to 
monitor moving forward. Have contacted 
Planning. Bushes and plants could be better 
maintained and will probably be cut shortly 
with development(if granted).  

30 Site between: Mundford and Weeting on 
the left of the highway

Increasing amount of scrap encroaching 
onto the verge

6 Clarity needed for ownership. Will continue 
to monitor and seek engagement.

This is a complex issue that will require 
ongoing multi-agency involvement

31 The Buckenhams and 
Banham

Banham The Old Shop, Crown Street, Banham NR16 
1HW

Dangerous structure, derelict and 
abandoned

4 Planning Enforcement and Housing aware 
of property. Currently in probate, any 
enforcement will be very difficult, as there 
is no one to allocate reasonable 
responsibility.  Will continue to monitor at 
present.

Owner passed away.   Housing involved in 
long term discussions with owner. Building 
Control fenced off and  other 
considerations to be considered.

86



32 Saham Toney Saham Toney Pages Place , Pages Lane, Saham Toney IP25 
7HL

This is a listed house and a key building in 
the  historic fabric of Saham.  It has been 
suspended in the sorry state that it is now 
for some years

4 Recent planning application refused. Will 
continue to be monitored. A fully restored 
building would benefit the locality. 

Have spoken with Historic Buildings 
Consultant to gain understanding of 
previous actions and will monitor progress. 

33 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Dwelling at entrance to Dereham Hospital, 
Northgate, Dereham NR19 2EX

A neglected site for many years. The site is 
very visible entering Dereham at the top of 
Northgate.

3 Although this property is boarded up. 
Grounds are kept very well. As on busy 
commercial grounds, unsure whether it 
could be suitable for residential use. 

34 Dereham Withburga Dereham Safari Way, Old Cranes site, Dereham This location has been derelict over time. 3

35 Attleborough Burgh & 
Havercroft 

Attleborough The Banham Poultry buildings  fronting 
Station Road, Attleborough

This premises has been described as an 
eyesore.

2 Opposite train station on busy road. 
Bushes/ plants slightly overgrown, could be 
exacerbated by recent weather. Speaking 
to owners should be looked in to. 

36 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Cowper Road car park, Dereham NR19 2BX The public facilities are now derelict and 
unusable. 

1 Council are aware of facilities and will 
continue to look to into using site in future.

37 Mattishall Reymerston An Address On The Street, Reymerston NR9 
4AG

Untidy site 1 This is a very rural area and hidden behind 
trees and bushes. This would not adversely 
affect pedestrians or visitors to the locality.

38 Dereham Neatherd Dereham Blue Corner Cafe, High St, Dereham NR19 
1DZ

Pigeon excrement gutter level, rear of 
building seems abandoned 

0 This issue has been resolved, no further 
action required. 

Has been dealt with by Private Sector 
Housing.

87



Unsightly Site Scoresheet

Each site has been scored out of five on the following points. The highest score attainable is 15 for an 
‘Unsightly Site’.

Detrimental Impact /5

Resolvability /5

Timely /5

Total /15

Example:

Site: Land behind QD, Dereham

Detrimental Impact 5/5

Resolvability 5/5

Timely 5/5

Total 15/15

88



IMPORTANT – THIS COMMUNICATON AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY

Dear ?

SITE ADDRESS

The District Council has recently embarked on a programme aimed at prioritising 
actions on sites that significantly and adversely impact upon the character and 
appearance of their immediate and wider environments or the general well-being 
of the communities within which they are located.  The above site, in the view of 
the District Council, is having an adverse impact on the amenities of the local and 
wider community.

You will be aware that it is open to the District Council to exercise a range of 
powers it has at its disposal to tackle land or buildings which, in their view, 
negatively impact on the wider environment.  These powers include legislative 
provisions contained within the Environmental Protection Act 1990; the Building 
Act 1984; the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982; the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990; and the Housing Act 2004 to name but a few.  

Prior to embarking upon further actions relating to other land and buildings within 
the District I am writing to you, as owner of the above property, in order to 
ascertain your intentions regarding this property.  Further, I would like to extend 
to you the opportunity to meet with me and my officers to discuss any steps we 
may, between us, take to collaboratively and constructively improve the 
appearance of your premises.  

Please note that I have addressed this correspondence to you as Land Registry 
records indicate that you have title to the above property.  If this is no longer the 
case then I would be pleased if you could confirm on what date title was 
transferred and to whom.

Finally, I would like to reiterate our ambition to work constructively with you 
towards improving the contribution this property makes to its immediate and 
wider environment.  Should you choose not to work with the District Council in 
order to seek to move matters forward collaboratively, the Council will give 
consideration to the use of one or more of the powers referred to earlier in this 
letter.  This may include undertaking works directly and may incur costs which 
would be subsequently protected as a charge on the title to the land.

Please feel free to come back to me should you wish to discuss matters further.  I 
am directly contactable on the numbers set out below.  If I am unavailable for any 
reason please leave a message and I will call you back as soon as I am able.

Kind Regards

89



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place

To: Cabinet 11 July 2017
Full Council 27 July 2017

Author: Jo Andrews, Strategic Revenues Manager, Anglia Revenues Partnership

Subject: Non-Domestic Rates - Discretionary rate Relief

Purpose: To approve guidelines for granting discretionary rate relief for businesses 
with large increases in their rates bills as a result of the revaluation. 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members approve guidelines to award relief to local businesses with a rateable value 
under £200,000 and an increase resulting from the 2017 revaluation above 11%.

2) That the Section 151 Officer in conjunction with the Leader is given delegated power to 
finalise the scheme and to determine the Rateable value cap and percentage each year.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 At the Budget on 8 March, the Chancellor announced that the Government would make 
available a discretionary fund of £300 million over four years from 2017-18 to support those 
businesses that face the steepest increases in their business rates bills as a result of the 
revaluation. The Government believes that local government is best placed to determine 
how this fund should be targeted and administered to support those businesses and 
locations within their area that are in the greatest need. 

1.2 Every billing authority in England has been provided with a share of the £300 million to 
support their local businesses. This will be administered through billing authorities’ 
discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government Act 1988. 

1.3 The Government has allocated the £300m of available funding to each billing authority, 
based on certain assumptions. The Government stated that Local authorities may wish to 
apply the same rules in our allocations.  Funding was allocated on the basis of how many 
properties in the Local Authority area with a rateable value under £200,000 were subject to 
increases of more than 12.5% before other reliefs

1.4 The appendix to the Government consultation document shows our allocations of the 
discretionary pot for the MTFS period as follows:

2017/18
(£000s)

2018/19
(£000s)

2019/20
(£000s)

2020/21
(£000s)

Breckland 322 156 64 9

90

Agenda Item 11



This is the maximum amount of discretionary relief that billing authorities can award for 
which they and major precepting authorities will be compensated through section 31 grant. 
(So, for example, if Breckland awards £100k in total to its ratepayers, it will get £40k back in 
section 31 grant, NCC will get £10k and the Government will bear the other £50k)

1.5 The Government have not yet made it clear whether Authorities will have the power to carry 
forward unused funds to the next financial year. 

1.6 Breckland Council have consulted with Norfolk County Council on the design of their 
scheme as this was a requirement of the Governments consultation paper and a 
consultation process with businesses is also underway.

1.7 Once the 100% rates retention system is introduced everywhere with effect from 2019-20, 
authorities will see their income reduced by the entire value of the relief given. For any 
year, the funding arrangements will ensure that all authorities are compensated for the loss 
of income they incur capped to their allocation by means of grant payments under section 
31 of the Local Government Act 2003, or transfer payments between Authorities

1.8 Those business who have been identified as potential recipients of this relief will be 
contacted directly and invited to complete a state aid declaration and confirm any other 
appropriate details.  The scheme will also be published on-line to ensure that the business 
community is aware of the relief available.

2.0 OPTIONS

The Government have made it clear that funding for this discretionary relief is to be used to 
help those facing the steepest increases as a result of the revaluation.

In accordance with legislation relief cannot be granted to precepting authorities.

The suggested discretionary relief guidelines from 1 April 2017, detailed in Appendix 1 sets 
out the criteria to be taken into consideration in deciding whether relief should be given, the 
procedure for applications and an appeals process where there has been a refusal to grant 
relief.

As limited funding is available the Council has modelled the cost of allowing relief broadly in 
line with The Governments approach with two options:-

1) The Rateable Value of the property is less than £200,000 and the increase is capped 
at 12.5%

2) The Rateable Value of the property is less than £200,000 and the increase is capped 
at 11% with relief being restricted to local businesses.

The recipients of this discretionary award will be businesses facing the steepest increases 
in their business rates bills as a result of the 2017 Business rates Revaluation.  

The cost of allowing relief can only be modelled on a yearly basis and therefore Cabinet is 
also requested to delegate the power to set the % increase and rateable value cap each 
year to the Section 151 Officer.

91



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

The introduction of these guidelines has sought to provide more information and clarity 
concerning the organisations that will benefit and the criteria used to determine relief. They 
also ensure that only those businesses with a rateable value under £200,000 impacted by 
the revaluation, receive relief.

By restricting relief to local businesses the Council can afford to provide relief to those who 
have had increases of more than 11%.  Also it will leave a contingency of approximately 
£28K in the fund whilst allowing us to help more businesses.

As the amount of funding reduces each year the Section 151 Officer can adjust the amount 
of relief according to the funding available.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

This funding allows Breckland to provide support to businesses who are facing large 
increases in their rate bills because of the revaluation.  This relief will help support the 
business community and local economy.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Financial 
5.1.1 Funding is available from Central Government.  These guidelines will ensure that spending 

is within the funding limit.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This will benefit businesses across the District

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jo Andrews, Strategic Revenues Manager, Anglia Revenues 

Partnership
Telephone Number: 01842 756490
Email: jo.andrews@angliarevenues.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

92



Appendices attached to this report: (list appendices below or delete)
Appendix 1 Discretionary Relief Guidelines 
 

93



                                                                                                           Appendix A
Guidelines Aim

These guidelines set out the Council’s intentions for dealing with the new 
discretionary rate relief for businesses most affected by the 2017 Business Rates 
Revaluation and its mechanism for reducing the negative impact on those 
businesses.  Awards of relief will be for one year only; the qualifying criteria will be 
reviewed in the final quarter of each year of the scheme to determine entitlement for 
the forthcoming financial year.

These guidelines aim to provide clarity around the process of administration of 
applications for this Discretionary Rate Relief, consistency in the application of the 
guidelines and to ensure maximum take-up from potential qualifying organisations, 
which will in turn make a contribution to achieving the Council’s priorities for the area.

Award of Rate Relief

Business rate payments remain legally due and payable in accordance with the most 
recent bill, until such time as any relief is awarded.  

The Non-Domestic (Business) Rates Team can provide assistance or advice to any 
organisation or business on the qualifying criteria and operation of the scheme.

Entitlement to discretionary relief is determined with reference to an increase in the 
bill due to the April 2017 revaluation. The funding for this relief is limited and 
therefore the business will be expected to apply for any other reliefs which may be 
applicable. These will be applied to the account first before any further relief is 
granted, limiting the increase in rates to the determined percentage for that year

All qualifying businesses and organisations are required to notify The Council of any 
change in circumstances that may affect their entitlement to Discretionary Rate 
Relief.

If an organisation moves address within the period that they are receiving rate relief 
(whether within or outside of the district), relief will not be carried forward to the new 
property as the business will have had an opportunity to consider the rates before 
moving. The relief is intended to cushion the effects of the revaluation only.

How Applications are Processed

The Non-Domestic (Business) Rates Team will administer the scheme.

The Business Rates Team will assess whether a business qualifies for relief and a 
Decision Notice will be issued by The Business Rates Team. 

Notification of the Decision

Qualifying businesses will be notified of the amount of the Discretionary Rate Relief 
award by the issue of a new Rate Demand Notice. The rate relief will be awarded by 
means of a reduction in liability shown on the business rates bill issued to the 
ratepayer.  Where this puts the account in credit for the year, a refund will be made 
by the Council.

.

There is provision for reconsideration of a decision by The Strategic Revenues 
Manager where the amount under consideration is less than £2000 or Section 151 

174
94



Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet member where the amount would exceed 
£2000.

Timescales for New Applications

Period of Award

The award period will be for a period of no more than 12 months and in any case will 
end on 31 March of the relevant financial year.  Continuation of relief will be subject 
to annual reviews of the scheme, until such time as the scheme ceases.

Annual Review of Relief Award

The Guidelines will be reviewed yearly and Qualifying businesses and organisations 
will have relief automatically granted for the next financial year. The amount will be 
shown on their annual rates bill.

Discretionary Rate Relief
Qualifying Factors for Businesses

All of the following criteria must apply for an application to be eligible:

Rateable Value of property is less than £200,000
Increase in 2017/18 rates compared to 2016/17 is greater than 11% as a result of 
the 2017 revaluation
Ratepayer must have been in occupation on 31/3/17
Scheme based on RV in Valuation List on 1/4/17 and rates payable on 31/3/17 
Properties empty on 31/3/17 will not qualify
In cases where there is a retrospective reduction to the RV, any overpayment of 
relief will be withdrawn.
Future increases in RV backdated to 1/4/17 will not be eligible for increases in the 
amount of relief awarded.
The Council will not normally award relief where the business operates at a 
regional or national level or is part of a franchise

This scheme has been designed to support those businesses facing the steepest 
increases due to the 2017 revaluation. The Council will award relief based on the 
above criteria but recognises that is has discretion to award relief where a business 
facing an increase in rates, does not satisfy the above factors. The Council has 
complete discretion as to the parameters and application of the scheme.

Promoting and Communicating this Policy

Advice and information relating to this policy is available on the Council’s website and 
from the Non-Domestic Rates Team at the Council.

Where possible, the Council will identify any new ratepayer who may qualify under 
this policy and grant relief where applicable.

State Aid

The award of discretionary rate relief is considered likely to amount to State Aid.  
State Aid is the means by which the European Union regulates state funded support 

175
95



to businesses.  Discretionary Relief will be State Aid compliant where it is provided in 
accordance with the De Minimis Regulations EC 1407/2013.  The De Minimis 
Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 ‘de-minimis’ aid over a 
rolling three year period.  

Businesses receiving Discretionary Relief will be required to sign a declaration to 
confirm that, including any other relief award, they will not have received more than 
€200,000 in total of De Minimis aid within the current financial year, or the previous 
two financial years.  

Further information on State Aid can be found at https://www.gov.uk/state-aid

Complaints and reconsiderations of refusal to award.

Although there is no legal right of appeal against the Council’s decisions on 
discretionary rate relief, in keeping with good customer care practice and principles of 
transparency, these guidelines provide for a review/reconsideration of any decision.

Decisions on awarding discretionary rate relief are usually made on the basis of the 
relevant factors and an organisation asking for a reconsideration of a decision should 
be able to demonstrate that they do satisfy the factors detailed in this guidance  that 
allow an award to be considered.

There is provision within this policy for a request for reconsideration of a decision to 
be made by the Strategic Revenues Manager or Section 151 Officer in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member (dependant on value). 

Action Timescale
If the applicant wishes to ask for a 
reconsideration of a decision, the request 
should be made in writing to the Strategic 
Revenues Manager or Section 151 
Officer and must demonstrate that some 
or all of the relevant factors contained 
within this document are met.

A request for reconsideration should be sent to the 
Council within 1 month of the date on the letter of 
refusal/award.

The Council will acknowledge receipt of a 
request for reconsideration in writing and 
advise the applicant of the date that the 
application will be reviewed by the 
Strategic Revenues Manager or Section 
151 Officer in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member.

Letter advising the date of application review will be sent 
within one week of the receipt of appeal letter.

The Strategic Revenues Manager or 
Section 151 Officer in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member will review the 
appeal. A letter will be sent to the 
applicant advising the final decision of 
the Council.

The letter will be sent within one week of the final 
decision.

176
96

https://www.gov.uk/state-aid


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Paul Claussen, Executive Member of Place and Rob Walker, Executive 
Director of Place

To: Cabinet, 10 July 2017 

Author: Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

Subject: Market Town Initiative

Purpose: To seek Cabinet support for the further development of the Breckland Market 
Town Initiative programme.  

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet support the further development of the Breckland Market Town Initiative 
programme;

2) That Cabinet recommend to Council that the Pride in Breckland programme is concluded 
and that the residual funding held in reserve for this Programme is reallocated to the Market 
Town Initiative.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet approval for the further development of a strategic Market Town 
Initiative across Breckland’s market towns.  

1.2 Breckland’s five market towns make up 55% of the population of the district with a total 
population of 72,000 people.  Thetford (population 25,000) and Dereham (population 
21,000) are the main centres, followed by Attleborough, Swaffham and Watton and the 
local service centre villages. 

 
1.3 Market towns are a key feature of the local landscape and how its economy and society 

functions.  In common with many market towns in the UK, Breckland’s five market towns 
are experiencing a number of challenges, including competition from major retail 
destinations and out-of-town shopping centres, increased online retailing, the closure of key 
services and decline in markets.  Whilst each market town has its own unique character the 
challenges facing them are similar. 

1.4 Breckland’s five market towns compete with each other and major destinations outside the 
district, including Norwich, Cambridge, Kings Lynn and Bury St Edmunds.  Most noticeably, 
Norwich has a strong influence over the eastern part of the district.

1.5 There are, however, significant opportunities that Breckland’s market towns can also benefit 
from, including: housing growth as a catalyst for regeneration, infrastructure investment, 
A11 dualling, planned upgrades to the A47, Norwich-Cambridge Tech Corridor, Local 
Enterprise Partnership investment and the One Public Estate programme.  

1.6 In February 2016, Cabinet resolved to allocate the final retained funding of 
Resource4Growth (£23,017) to the support the five market towns – through a Market Town 
Initiative – and consultation was undertaken with the Town Councils on proposals to 
increase footfall and the attractiveness of the towns. 

97

Agenda Item 12



2

1.7 The consultation with the Town Councils demonstrated that there is collective interest in 
finding a mechanism for greater joint working that supports and promotes Breckland’s 
market towns in a more targeted manner. Town Action Plans were developed by each of 
the Towns and were the basis for the allocation of funding.  

1.8 In January 2017, Cabinet resolved to spend £23,017 across the market towns, apportioned 
in line with respective population figures.  The projects contained within the Town Action 
Plans and supported with funding included: -

 Improve signage in and around the town centre
 Purchase Town Flags
 Refurbish Market Place maps / 
 Revitalise town centre flower planters
 Heritage Open Day 
 Christmas lights switch on and winter theatre & wonderland
 Heritage Hanging Basket Post
 Heritage Information Boards
 Co-ordinated marketing strategy and publicity campaign for market
 Litter bin replacement 
 Publishing of adverts/articles to promote businesses 
 Provision of pop up stall/display stands 

1.9     Whilst unquestionably valuable, none of the above projects, either individually or collectively, 
will succeed in [the long-term] addressing the challenges or maximising the opportunities 
facing Breckland’s five market towns (as highlighted briefly above).  

1.10   It should be noted that in April 2016, Breckland Council launched a pilot scheme for 
business rate relief in Dereham.  The scheme was to support businesses with a reduction 
of up to 80% for the first year.  The scheme sought to attract investment and limit areas of 
retail decline and is being reviewed to assess its effectiveness.

1.11  Furthermore, it should also be noted that the current development partnerships for 
Attleborough and Thetford have sought to introduce a structured and strategic approach to 
place-based governance and leadership but to date have been largely focussed on the 
implications of the housing and employment growth agenda rather than holistic 
regeneration of the existing towns.  

Proposals

Leadership

1.12 This report proposes the further development of the Market Town Initiative beyond this 
initial grant-giving phase to increase the vibrancy of all our market towns and their 
economic, social and cultural capital.

1.13  It is further proposed that Breckland Council takes the strategic lead on the Market Town 
Initiative and subsequent work across the district’s five market towns.  The Council will work 
with the democratic representatives in each town but also with those key stakeholders that 
can help support change and development.  

1.14   There are not currently widely agreed visions of what the market towns can provide, their 
challenges, opportunities or aspirations for the future.  Breckland Council, therefore, needs 
to work with the Town Councils and other stakeholders to pull together an evidence base, 

98



3

full and comprehensive work programmes and [most importantly] shape visions for each 
place, taking account of current challenges and future growth and opportunities.

1.15   To address long term leadership concerns in the towns and sustainability of the Market 
Town Initiative there is a need to upskill the Town Council’s resources and support them to 
address current capacity and future resources to deliver an ongoing Market Town Initiative 
programme. 

           Work Programme

1.16 Due to the scale and breadth of the potential work programmes it would be appropriate to 
develop a series of work-streams under which the actions would sit. These should link to 
the strategic visions that are developed and allow for each town to be treated uniquely. It is 
anticipated that there will be three work streams over the short, medium and long term.

1.17   In the short term, the focus will be on the better coordination and focus for ‘business as 
usual’. This will include, for example, a focus on the active use of resources and 
engagement / enforcement tools to enhance the local environment (litter, graffiti, untidy 
sites, ASB, etc.).

1.18    In the medium term, attention will be on securing inward investment in to each town, taking 
a strategic approach to, for example, market provision, car parking, asset management and 
better alignment with [amongst others] Norfolk County Council’s work on highways and their 
own discrete review of market towns.   

1.19   In the longer term, the Initiative should be coalesced with national government’s long term 
economic plans, which include support for local shops and high streets, changes to 
business rates, parking policies, support for local leadership, business improvement 
districts, support for local markets and planning changes.  Our relationship with the New 
Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership will be at the forefront of this work.

         Local Intelligence 

1.20 Internally, the Council needs to pull together all the information it holds, from across its 
services (planning, housing, economic development, environmental services, etc.), into a 
single evidence ‘baseline’ for each town. This evidence will help inform and shape the 
visions for the place and the subsequent work programmes for each town. 

1.21   This evidence baseline can be widened to include information held by Norfolk County 
Council and other key partners at a later date. Furthermore, the baseline evidence can be 
used to test some of the assumptions that are currently made regarding the ‘health’ of our 
market towns and inform future investment strategies. This reinforces the need for the 
Council to make better use of the service intelligence it holds. Moreover, having a 
consistent evidence baseline will help to engage partners and can also be used to test and 
benchmark future success.

1.22 Using the evidence base, the Council could then work in towns to develop specific Work 
Programmes and undertake a prioritisation exercise for the actions identified within the 
programmes to deliver the strategic visions. These actions plans could form the basis of a 
series of public and wider stakeholder engagement events at a town level as appropriate.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing. The Market Town Initiative will not be developed and the funding will remain 

99



4

held in reserve for the Pride in Breckland programme.  

2.2 This report recommends the following options: -

 That Cabinet support the development of the Breckland Market Town Initiative 
programme;

 That the Pride in Breckland programme is concluded and that the residual funding held 
in reserve for this Programme is reallocated to the Market Town Initiative.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Our high streets and town centres are facing serious challenges from out-of-town shopping 
centres and the growth of online and mobile retailing. Our market towns and high streets 
need to be vibrant places with a strong economy and offer something that neither shopping 
centres nor the internet can match.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The market towns will be better placed to meet the challenges of competition from major 
retail destinations and out-of-town shopping centres, increased online retailing, the closure 
of key services and decline in markets; and maximise the opportunities presented by 
housing growth as a catalyst for regeneration, infrastructure investment, A11 dualling, 
planned upgrades to the A47, Norwich-Cambridge Tech Corridor, Local Enterprise 
Partnership investment and the One Public Estate programme.  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications with regard to carbon 
footprint.  Environmental issues in each town are expected to form part of the work 
programme with redirected and focused activity on areas in need of attention.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1  The further development of the Market Town Initiative has value in increasing the vibrancy of 
our market towns and their economic, social and cultural capital and is a key objective in 
our Corporate Plan. The Council’s financial strategy is focused on business growth and 
achieving financial returns from investment. The Council’s economic development and 
strategic asset services are also focused on achieving these key outcomes. The emerging 

100



5

Local Plan sets the framework for scale and location of development focussing on the 
market towns as key sustainable locations. Furthermore, a number of key pieces of work 
currently being undertaken by the Council will feed in to this work e.g. Breckland Bridge, car 
parking studies, the Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan, etc.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 Building on work of the Operational Partnership Team, community safety issues in each 
town are expected to form part of the work programme with redirected and focused activity 
on areas in need of attention.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 £231,000 funding is held in reserve for the Pride in Breckland project.  This funding has 
been received from Norfolk County Council over a number of years and is returned (50%) 
Second Homes Council Tax monies.  Beyond 2017/18 no further funding will be received 
from Norfolk County Council.

5.7.2 This money was originally granted to support the work of the Breckland Local Strategic 
Partnership (LSP) and delivery of the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS).  The 
Breckland LSP has been disbanded and the SCS is no longer active.  There is no 
requirement to return any of the funds received to date, although there is an informal 
expectation that the monies will used to fund community-based initiatives as originally 
intended. 

5.7.3 Over recent years, a relatively small number of grants have been made to community 
organisations using this funding but the over-arching Pride in Breckland programme has not 
been active.

5.7.4 In short, the £231,000 held by the Council in reserve could be made available to fund the 
Market Town Initiative.

5.7.5 It is not proposed that the available funding is split either equally or proportionately (per 
capita) across the towns.  The disaggregation of funding, would no doubt be welcomed in 
each of the five market towns, but would – in all likelihood – lead to non-strategic spend on 
small-scale peripheral projects.  It is important that a district-wide approach is taken to 
ensure strategic goals are achieved and that monies are retained centrally for this purpose 
and to resource this Initiative effectively.  

5.7.6 The funding allocated by Breckland Council should be seen as “seed” funding to enable the 
kick-start of key projects and to lever in external investment on key [infrastructure] priorities, 
e.g. from the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1  Health and Wellbeing issues in each town are expected to form part of the work 
programme with redirected and focused activity on areas in need of attention. 

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no specific implications at this stage.  

101



6

Further risk assessments will be undertaken and detailed as part of the work programming 
process.  

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is proposed that the establishment is not increased and that resources are redeployed 
within the Environment and Community Services Team to lead this project.  Much of this 
team’s work can be coordinated and promoted under the banner of the “Market Town 
Initiative” and resource from elsewhere in the Council and third parties will further be 
utilised as required.  

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 As detailed in the body of the report with Town Councils and Norfolk County Council.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Whilst it is important that the Market Town Initiative be developed across the five market 
towns in Breckland it should not focus exclusively on the respective towns (Town Council 
administrative boundaries) to the detriment of the rural hinterlands served by each town.  A 
proposed geography will be developed to reflect the rural hinterlands for each town and – 
where possible - district ward boundaries.

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Rob Walker
Telephone Number: 07867 988826
Email: Robert.walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes / No 

Exempt Decision: Yes / No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service

102


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Breckland Local Plan and the Strategic Housing Market Assessment Document
	SHMA Report Final

	8 Grant Funding
	Grant Funding Appendix
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24


	9 Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) - Thetford
	Appendix 1 for Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) - Thetford
	Q1 In what capacity are you responding to this consultation? Please tick all that apply
	Q2 A PSPO can prohibit multiple activities.€€Breckland Council proposes€to prohibit the following activities within€the designated area:1) Consumption of alcohol in a public place within the designated area2) Urination and defecation in a public place within the designated area3) Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrian€zone within the designated areaPlease answer the following questions:Have you seen people persistently drinking alcohol in a public place within Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q3 Has this got better or worse in Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q4 Have you been affected by this issue in Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q5 Should Breckland Council seek to prohibit this activity through a Public Spaces Protection Order covering the area shown on the map?
	Q6 Have you seen evidence of people persistently urinating or defecating in a public place within Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q7 Has this got better or worse in Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q8 Have you been affected by this issue in Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q9 Should Breckland Council seek to prohibit this activity through a Public Spaces Protection Order covering the area shown on the map?
	Q10 Have you seen people persistently using a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrian zone within Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q11 Has this got better or worse in Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q12 Have you been affected by this issue in Thetford Town Centre in the last 12 months?
	Q13 Should Breckland Council seek to prohibit this activity through a Public Spaces Protection Order covering the area shown on the map?
	Q14 If you don't agree with the proposals please state what activities should be prohibited within the designated area, ensuring the following information is given (if you agree with the proposals please skip this question):1) Description of the activity2) How long it has been an issue for3)€ How the€activity has affected you
	Q15 Do you agree with the proposed area of the PSPO
	Q16 What roads or areas do you think should be added to the proposed PSPO?
	Q17 What roads or areas do you think should be removed from the proposed PSPO?

	Appendix 2 for Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) - Thetford
	Sheets and Views
	THET 03
	OVERVIEW




	10 Unsightly and derelict sites and land
	Unsightly Sites (Appendix A)
	Sheet1

	Appendix 2 for Unsightly and derelict sites and land
	Appendix 3 for Unsightly and derelict sites and land

	11 Locally Administered Business Rates Relief Scheme
	Appendix 1 for Locally Administered Business Rates Relief Scheme

	12 Market Town Initiative - Grant Re-allocation

